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ED 55 Proposed Amendments to  

Financial Reporting Standards 
 

The Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (the Board) has approved the 

release of this Exposure Draft for distribution to professional accounting 

bodies, regulators, users and other interested individuals and organisations 

for comments. This Exposure Draft consists of proposals to amend 10 

Financial Reporting Standards (FRSs) listed below: 

 

(a)  FRS 1072004 Cash Flow Statements 

(b)  FRS 1112004 Construction Contracts 

(c)  FRS 1122004 Income Taxes 

(d)  FRS 1182004 Revenue 

(e)  FRS 1192004 Employee Benefits 

  Amendment to FRS 1192004 Employee Benefits – 

Actuarial Gains and Losses, Group Plans and 

Disclosures 

(f)  FRS 1202004 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance 

(g)  FRS 1232004 Borrowing Costs 

(h)  FRS 1262004 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit 

Plans 

(i)  FRS 1342004 Interim Financial Reporting 

(j)  FRS 1372004 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 

Assets 

 

The Board has decided to review these Standards with the view to converge 

with the international standards, and invites comments on whether 

constituents agree with the proposed amendments to the above 10 FRSs 

which involves reformatting of the existing Standards to be identical to the 

format of the IASs. If you disagree, the Board would like to know your 

reason for disagreement. Your comments should reach the Board by 16 

April 2007. The Board plans to issue the reformatted Standards by June 

2007 for financial periods beginning on or after 1 July 2007. 

 

FRS 1142004 Segment Reporting is not included in the list of amendments as 

the Board is in the process of reviewing IFRS 8 Operating Segments, which 

will replace FRS 1142004 once it is finalised. The Board plans to issue IFRS 

8 as an exposure draft for public comments in the near future.  
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FRS 1292004 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies is not 

included in the list of amendments as that Standard is already identical to 

IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies. 

 

Until the revised Standards become effective, the requirements of the 

current version of the relevant Financial Reporting Standards shall remain in 

force. 

 

Background 
 

When the MASB was set up in 1997, the Board subscribed to the policy of 

“harmonisation with International Accounting Standards (IASs)”. 

Harmonisation involved using IASs as a basis for the development of 

accounting standards in Malaysia because the Board recognised the IASs 

were the most appropriate basis for all MASB Standards. Up until 31 

December 2004, all MASB Standards, apart from locally developed 

standards are consistent in all material respect with IASs. For locally 

developed standards, the principles underlying the recognition, measurement 

and disclosure requirements of those standards are consistent with other 

relevant standards issued by the International Accounting Standards 

Committee (IASC). 

 

IASC was reconstituted on 1 April 2001 with the birth of the International 

Accounting Standards Board (IASB), which took over the standard-setting 

responsibilities. The IASB has been committed to developing a single set of 

high quality, understandable and enforceable global accounting standards 

that require transparent and comparable information in general purpose 

financial statements. In addition, the IASB co-operates with national 

accounting standard-setters to achieve convergence in accounting standards 

around the world. 

 

The MASB recognises the need to converge with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) in tandem with the rest of the world. As a first 

step, it has renamed MASB Standards to FRSs with effect from 1 January 

2005. In addition to the name change, MASB also renumbered the Standards 

to correspond to those of the IASs. Now, the convergence effort has become 

nearer with the Board’s decision to reformat the existing Standards to be 

identical with IASs. 

 

 



MASB ED 55 

 

4 

 

Purpose of this Exposure Draft 
 

Prior to 2005, the MASB made improvements to a number of international 

standards by adding explanation, guidance and examples or by amending 

certain provisions to suit local circumstances. The MASB considered this to 

be necessary to broaden the content of the Standards to cover domestic, 

regulatory or other issues as well as to provide guidance for the local 

constituents on topics not addressed in the IASs. 

 

In line with the policy of convergence with IFRSs and based on experience 

in implementing FRSs equivalent to IFRSs, the MASB has decided to align 

its accounting standards issued prior to 2005 (FRSs with a subscript ‘2004’) 

with the respective IASs, both in terms of form and contents. In order to 

achieve this objective, the MASB ED 55 proposes to remove the remaining 

differences between FRSs and IASs to eventually result in FRSs being 

identical to IASs / IFRSs. 

 

Format and structure of the 10 revised FRSs 
 

The subscript ‘2004’ will be removed from the revised Standards. When the 

proposed amendments are finalised and issued as the revised approved 

accounting standards, they will be referred to as: 
 

(a)  FRS 107 Cash Flow Statements 

(b)  FRS 111 Construction Contracts 

(c)  FRS 112 Income Taxes 

(d)  FRS 118 Revenue 

(e)  FRS 119 Employee Benefits 

(f)  FRS 120 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of 

Government Assistance 

(g)  FRS 123 Borrowing Costs 

(h)  FRS 126 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans 

(i)  FRS 134 Interim Financial Reporting 

(j)  FRS 137 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets 

 

The paragraph numbering in the revised Standards will be identical to the 

paragraph in the respective IASs. Additions to IASs, if any, are clearly 



MASB ED 55 

 

5 

identified and would be made in a manner that preserves the format and 

structure of the IASs. 

 

Basis for the proposed amendments 
 

The MASB believes that in order to enjoy the full benefit of convergence 

with IFRSs, it is important that all the FRSs have the same requirements as 

IFRSs, including those Standards that were issued prior to the reconstitution 

of the IASC.  

 

Presentation of the document  
 

There are 11 sections in this Exposure Draft. Each section deals with the 

respective FRSs and the last section deals with consequential amendments 

to other FRSs. Only those paragraphs subject to amendments are presented 

in this document.  

 

For a copy of the full revised text of the proposed Standards, please visit 

http://www.masb.org.my/masbdp_edonline.asp 

http://www.masb.org.my/masbdp_edonline.asp
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Section 1.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1072004 Cash Flow Statements 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 7 Cash Flow Statements and FRS 1072004. 

 

1.1 The phrase ‘in some countries’ in paragraph 8 of IAS 7 which was 

removed from paragraph 8 of FRS 1072004 is reinstated. In 

addition, the explanation on ‘revolving credits’ in paragraph 8 of 

FRS 1072004 which is not found in IAS 7 is removed. Therefore, 

the proposed amendments to paragraph 8 of FRS 1072004 will read 

(new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

8. Bank borrowings are generally considered to be 

financing activities. However, in some countries, 

bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand 

form an integral part of an entity’s cash 

management. … 

 

Another common bank borrowing is revolving 

credits. Many entities may view such credits as 

synonymous with bank overdrafts because of the 

‘rotating’ nature of cash inflows and outflows of 

such credit facilities. However, revolving credit 

facilities are provided by banks for restricted or 

specific uses, and there are normally penalty 

clauses for early repayment and for facilities not 

utilised. Also, most revolving credits are subject 

to the requirement for yearly or short-term 

renewal. These characteristics make revolving 

credits similar to term loans or other bank 

borrowings, which arise from an entity’s 

financing decision. Accordingly, revolving 

credits shall not be included as a component of 

cash and cash equivalents, but shall be classified 

as financing activities. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 8 of FRS 107 

will be identical to paragraph 8 of IAS 7. 
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1.2 The word ‘acquire’ in paragraph 17(b) of IAS 7 which was 

replaced with ‘buyback’ in paragraph 17(b) of FRS 1072004 is 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 17(b) 

of FRS 1072004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through): 

 

17. … Examples of cash flows arising from 

financing activities are: 

… 

(b) cash payments to owners to buyback 

acquire or redeem the entity’s shares; 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 17 of FRS 107 

will be identical to paragraph 17 of IAS 7. 

 

1.3 The last sentence in paragraph 19 of FRS 1072004 on reconciliation 

of cash flows from operations with the profit or loss for entities 

reporting cash flows from operating activities using the direct 

method which is not found in IAS 7 is removed. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 19 of FRS 1072004 will read 

(deleted text is struck through): 

 

19. Entities are encouraged to report cash flows from 

operating activities using the direct method. …  

… 

(b) by adjusting sales, cost of sales (interest 

and similar income and interest expense 

and similar charges for a financial 

institution) and other items in the 

income statements for: 

…. 

(iii) other items for which the cash 

effects are investing or financing 

cash flows. 

Entities that use the direct method are 

encouraged to provide a reconciliation of cash 

flows from operations with the profit or loss for 

the period. 
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With the proposed amendment, paragraph 19 of FRS 107 

will be identical to paragraph 19 of IAS 7. 

 

1.4 The word ‘around the world’ in paragraph 46 of IAS 7 which was 

replaced with ‘amongst the entities’ in paragraph 46 of FRS 

1072004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 46 of FRS 1072004 will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

46. In view of the variety of cash management 

practices and banking arrangements amongst the 

entities around the world and in order to comply 

with FRS 101 Presentation of Financial 

Statements, an entity discloses the policy which it 

adopts in determining the composition of cash 

and cash equivalents. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 46 of FRS 107 

will be identical to paragraph 46 of IAS 7. 

 

 
Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Section 2.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1112004 Construction Contracts 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 11 Construction Contracts and FRS 1112004. 

 

2.1 Paragraph 2 of FRS 1112004 on the exemption to exempt entities 

from compliance with the Standard which is not found in IAS 11 

is removed. That sentence reads: 

 

2. Exempt entities need not comply with this 

Standard.* 

 

 

*  See MASB SOP 1 Exempt Entities for the 

definition of an exempt entity. 

 

2.2 The phrase ‘and are often classified as contract work in progress’ 

in paragraph 27 of IAS 11 which was removed from paragraph 28 

of FRS 1112004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment 

to paragraph 28 of FRS 1112004 will read (new text is underlined): 

 

28.27 A contractor may have incurred contract costs 

that relate to future activity on the contract. Such 

contract costs are recognised as an asset provided 

it is probable that they will be recovered. Such 

costs represent an amount due from the customer 

and are often classified as contract work in 

progress. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 27 of FRS 111 

will be identical to paragraph 27 of IAS 11. 

 

2.3 The explanation regarding the appropriate provision in the 

Standard that need to be applied during the early stage of a 

contract where the outcome of the contract cannot be estimated 

reliably in paragraph 34 of FRS 1112004 which is not found in IAS 

11 is  removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 

34 of FRS 1112004 is amended to read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 
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34.33 During the early stages of a contract it is often 

the case that the outcome of the contract cannot 

be estimated reliably, and, therefore, in such 

circumstances the provisions of paragraph 33 

may be more appropriate than those contained in 

paragraph 23. Nevertheless, it may be probable 

that the entity will recover the contract costs 

incurred. Therefore, contract revenue is 

recognised only to the extent of costs incurred 

that are expected to be recoverable. As the 

outcome of the contract cannot be estimated 

reliably, no profit is recognised. However, even 

though the outcome of the contract cannot be 

estimated reliably, it may be probable that total 

contract costs will exceed total contract 

revenues. In such cases, any expected excess of 

total contract costs over total contract revenue 

for the contract is recognised as an expense 

immediately in accordance with paragraph 3736. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 33 of FRS 111 

will be identical to paragraph 33 of IAS 11. 

 

2.4 The disclosure requirement on amount of contract costs recognised 

as an expense in the period in paragraph 40(b) of FRS 1112004 

which is not found in IAS 11 is removed. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to paragraph 40 of FRS 1112004 is amended to read 

(deleted text is struck through): 

 

40.39 An entity shall disclose: 

… 

(b) the amount of contract costs 

recognised as an expense in the 

period; 

(c)(b) the methods used to determine the 

contract revenue recognised in the 

period; and 
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(d)(c) the methods used to determine the 

stage of completion of contracts in 

progress. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 39 of FRS 111 

will be identical to paragraph 39 of IAS 11. 

 

2.5 The transitional provisions in paragraph 47 of FRS 1112004 which 

is not found in IAS 11 is removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

Transitional Provisions 

 

47. When the adoption of this Standard constitutes a 

change in accounting policy, the effects of the 

change in accounting policy shall be applied 

retrospectively and the corresponding amounts 

shall be adjusted for the change in policy. If it is 

not practicable to do so, the new accounting 

policy shall be applied prospectively to all new 

construction contracts. 
 

2.6 The additional illustrative example in Appendix of FRS 1112004 for 

‘Accounting and Disclosures’ which is not found in IAS 11 is 

removed. That example reads: 

 

Accounting and Disclosures 

The following data relate to three contracts for two financial 

years: 

 Contract A Contract B Contract C Total 

Contract price 15,000 18,000 12,000  

Year 1:     

Costs assigned to 

contract 

 

2,000 

 

9,000 

 

7,000 

 

Unused materials  

and costs relating to 

future work 

 

 

- 

 

 

(2,000) 

 

 

(1,000) 

 

Cost incurred to date 2,000 7,000 6,000  
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Further costs to 

complete 

 

10,000 

 

6,000 

 

8,000 

 

Estimated total costs 12,000 13,000 14,000  

Estimated total 

profit/(loss) 

3,000 5,000 (2,000) 
 

% completion based 

on survey work 

15% 50% 40% 
 

Progress billings to 

date 

 

1,800 

 

9,800 

 

4,000 

 

Profit and loss extract:    

Revenue recognised 

as income 

 

2,250 

 

9,000 

 

4,800 

 

16,050 

Costs recognised as 

expense 

 

(1,800) 

 

(6,500) 

 

(5,600) 

 

(13,900

) 

Future loss on 

contract 

 

 

 

 

 

(1,200) 

 

(1,200) 

Attributable profit  

or loss 

 

450 

 

2,500 

 

(2,000) 

 

950 

Balance sheet extract:     

Current assets:     

Construction 

materials 

 

- 

 

2,000 

 

1,000 

 

3,000 

Gross amount due 

from customer 

 

650 

 

- 

 

- 

 

650 

Current liabilities:     

Gross amount due to 

customer 

 

- 

 

300 

 

- 

 

300 
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Notes to the accounts:    

Aggregate costs 

incurred to date 

 

2,000 

 

7,000 

 

6,000 

 

15,000 

Add: Attributable 

profit 

450 2,500 - 2,950 

Less: Recognised 

loss 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(2,000) 

 

(2,000) 

 2,450 9,500 4,000 15,950 

Less: Progress 

billings 

 

1,800 

 

9,800 

 

4,000 

 

15,600 

Amount due from 

customer 

 

650 

 

- 

 

- 

 

650 

Amount due to 

customer 

 

- 

 

(300) 

 

- 

 

(300) 

 

Year 2 

 Contract A Contract B Contract C Total 

Costs assigned to 

contract 

8,500 12,000 13,000  

Unused materials  

and costs relating to 

future work 

 

 

(1,000) 

 

 

(500) 

 

 

(2,000) 

 

Cost incurred to date 7,500 11,500 11,000  

Further costs to 

complete 

 

5,000 

 

1,300 

 

2,500 

 

Estimated total costs 12,500 12,800 13,500  

Estimated total 

profit/(loss) 

 

2,500 

 

5,200 

 

(1,500) 

 

% completion based 

on survey work 

 

55% 

 

85% 

 

80% 

 

Progress billings to 

date 

 

7,500 

 

16,000 

 

9,600 
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Profit and loss extract:    

Revenue to date 8,250 15,300 9,600  

Revenue recognised 

in prior year 

 

(2,250) 

 

(9,000) 

 

(4,800) 

 

Revenue for the 

current year 

 

6,000 

 

6,300 

 

4,800 

 

17,100 

Costs as expense to 

date 

 

6,875 

 

10,880 

 

10,880 

 

Costs recognised in 

prior year 

 

(1,800) 

 

(6,500) 

 

(6,800) 

 

Future loss on 

contract 

 

- 

 

- 

 

300 

 

Costs as expense for 

the current year 

 

5,075 

 

4,380 

 

4,300 

 

13,755 

Profit for the year 925 1,920 500 3,345 

Balance sheet extract:    

Current assets:     

Construction 

materials 

 

1,000 

 

500 

 

2,000 

 

3,500 

Gross amount due 

from customer 

 

1,375 

 

- 

 

- 

 

1,375 

Current liabilities:     

Gross amount due to 

customer 

 

- 

 

80 

 

100 

 

180 

Notes to the accounts:    

Aggregate costs 

incurred to date 

 

7,500 

 

11,500 

 

11,000 

 

30,000 

Add: Attributable 

profits 

 

1,375 

 

4,420 

 

- 

 

5,795 

Less: Recognised 

loss 

 

- 

 

- 

 

(1,500) 

 

(1,500) 

 8,875 15,920 9,500 34,295 

Less: Progress 

billings 

 

7,500 

 

16,000 

 

9,600 

 

33,100 

Amount due from 

customers 

 

1,375 

 

- 

 

 

 

1,375 

Amount due to 

customer 

 

- 

 

(80) 

 

(100) 

 

(180) 
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Question: 

 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1112004 

with the proposed revised FRS 111.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1112004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 111  

 

 Paragraph 

in  

FRS 1112004 

Paragraph 

 in  

FRS 111 

Objective Objective  25 24 

1 1  26 25 

2 None  27 26 

3 2  28 27 

4 3  29 28 

5 4  30 29 

6 5  31 30 

7 6  32 31 

8 7  33 32 

9 8  34 33 

10 9  35 34 

11 10  36 35 

12 11  37 36 

13 12  38 37 

14 13  39 38 

15 14  40 39 

16 15  41 40 

17 16  42 41 

18 17  43 42 

19 18  44 43 

20 19  45 44 

21 20  46 45 

22 21  47 None 

23 22  48 46 

24 23    
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Section 3.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1122004 Income Taxes 

 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 12 Income Taxes and FRS 1122004. 

 

3.1 Paragraph IN2(a) of IAS 12 which was removed from paragraph 

IN2 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to paragraph IN2 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined): 

 

IN2. … 

All timing differences are temporary differences. 

Temporary differences also arise in the following 

circumstances, which do not give rise to timing 

differences, although the original IAS 12 treated 

them in the same way as transactions that do 

give rise to timing differences: 

(a) subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures 

have not distributed their entire profits 

to the parent or investor; 

(a)(b) assets are revalued and no equivalent 

adjustment is made for tax purposes; 

and 

(b)(c) the cost of a business combination is 

allocated to the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed by 

reference to their fair values, but no 

equivalent adjustment is made for tax 

purposes. 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph IN2 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph IN2 of IAS 12. 
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3.2 Paragraph IN6 of IAS 12 which was removed from FRS 1122004 is 

reinstated. That paragraph reads: 

 

IN6 The original IAS 12 required that taxes payable 

on undistributed profits of subsidiaries and 

associates should be recognised unless it was 

reasonable to assume that those profits will not 

be distributed or that a distribution would not 

give rise to a tax liability. However, FRS 112 

prohibits the recognition of such deferred tax 

liabilities (and those arising from any related 

cumulative translation adjustment) to the extent 

that: 

(a) the parent, investor or venturer is able 

to control the timing of the reversal of 

the temporary difference; and 

(b) it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

 

When this prohibition has the result that no 

deferred tax liabilities have been recognised, 

FRS 112 requires an entity to disclose the 

aggregate amount of the temporary differences 

concerned. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph IN6 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph IN6 of IAS 12. 

 

3.3 Paragraph IN9(a) of IAS 12 which was removed from paragraph 

IN8 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. The phrase ‘in some countries’ in 

paragraph IN9(b) of IAS 12 which was removed from paragraph 

IN8 of FRS 1122004 is also reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to paragraph IN8 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text 

is underlined): 

 

IN8.9 The tax consequences of recovering the carrying 

amount of certain assets or liabilities may depend 
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on the manner of recovery or settlement, for 

example: 

(a) in certain countries, capital gains are not 

taxed at the same rate as other taxable 

income; and 

(b) in some countries, the amount that is 

deducted for tax purposes on sale of an 

asset is greater than the amount that may 

be deducted as depreciation. 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph IN9 of FRS 

112 will be identical to paragraph IN9 of IAS 12. 

 

3.4 The phrase ‘and real property gains taxes payable on disposal of 

properties’ in paragraph 3 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in 

paragraph 2 of IAS 12 is removed. In addition, the words ‘other’ 

and ‘foreign’ which are not found in IAS 12 are removed. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 3 of FRS 

1122004 will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

3.2 For the purposes of this Standard, income taxes 

include all domestic and foreign taxes which are 

based on taxable profits. Income taxes also 

include other taxes, such as withholding taxes, 

which are payable by a foreign subsidiary, 

associate or joint venture on distributions to the 

reporting entity, and real property gains taxes 

payable on disposal of properties. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 2 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 2 of IAS 12. 

 

3.5 Certain terms and numbers in Example 1 following paragraph 7 of 

IAS 12 which were replaced with local tax terms and other 

numbers in FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to Example 1 following paragraph 7 of FRS 1122004 

will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 
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Examples 

1. A machine cost 1,000 100. For tax purposes, 

capital allowances depreciation of 300 30 have 

has already been deducted in the current and prior 

periods and the remaining cost will be deductible 

in future periods, either as annual capital 

allowances depreciation or through a balancing 

allowance deduction on disposal. Revenue 

generated by using the machine is taxable, any 

gain or loss on disposal of the machine will be 

subject to a balancing charge or allowance taxable 

and any loss on disposal will be deductible for tax 

purposes. The tax base of the machine is 700 70. 

… 

 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, Example 1 following 

paragraph 7 of FRS 112 will be identical to Example 1 

following paragraph 7 of IAS 12. 

 

3.6 The explanation regarding temporary differences arising from 

unrealised profits or losses eliminated on consolidation in 

paragraph 11 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in paragraph 11 of 

IAS 12 is removed. In addition, the explanation on tax base of a 

consolidated entity in paragraph 11 of IAS 12 which was removed 

from paragraph 11 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the 

proposed amendments to paragraph 11 of FRS 1122004 will read 

(new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

11. In consolidated financial statements, temporary 

differences are determined by comparing the 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements with the 

appropriate tax base. In Malaysia, tThe tax base 

is determined by reference to a consolidated tax 

return in those jurisdictions in which such a 

return is filed.  In other jurisdictions, the tax base 

is determined by reference to the tax returns of 
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each entity in the group. Therefore, unrealised 

profits or losses which are eliminated on 

consolidation create temporary differences in the 

consolidated financial statements between 

carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and 

their corresponding tax bases. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 11 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 11 of IAS 12. 

 

3.7 The explanation regarding Malaysian tax assessment on the 

current year basis in paragraph 13 of FRS 1122004 which is not 

found in IAS 12 is removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

13. In the Malaysian context, current income taxes, 

which were previously based on the preceding 

year basis, have been changed to the current year 

basis.  Therefore, income taxes of current and 

prior periods shall, to the extent unpaid, be 

recognised as a current tax liability. Conversely, 

if the amount of income taxes paid for current 

and prior periods exceeds the amount assessed 

for those periods, the excess shall be recognised 

as a current tax asset. Any over or under-

provision for current income taxes is accounted 

for as a change in estimate and is adjusted for 

when the Inland Revenue Board has made an 

assessment of the amount of current income tax 

payable. The current income tax laws do not 

permit a tax loss to be used to recover current tax 

of a previous period. The tax loss of a current 

period may be used to offset taxable income in a 

future period, and accordingly, represents only 

potential tax savings in future periods which 

shall be accounted for in accordance with 

paragraph 37.  

 

3.8 The guidance relating to the benefit arising from a tax loss that is 

carried back to recover current tax of a previous period in 
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paragraphs 13 and 14 of IAS 12 which were removed from FRS 

1122004 are reinstated. Those paragraphs read: 

 

13 The benefit relating to a tax loss that can be 

carried back to recover current tax of a 

previous period shall be recognised as an 

asset. 
 

14 When a tax loss is used to recover current tax of 

a previous period, an entity recognises the 

benefit as an asset in the period in which the tax 

loss occurs because it is probable that the benefit 

will flow to the entity and the benefit can be 

reliably measured. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraphs 13 and 14 of 

FRS 112 will be identical to paragraphs 13 and 14 of IAS 

12. 

 

3.9 The last sentence in paragraph 15 of IAS 12 on taxable temporary 

differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates 

and joint ventures which was removed from paragraph 14 of FRS 

1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 14 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined):  

 

14.15 A deferred tax liability shall be recognised for 

all taxable temporary differences, except to 

the extent that the deferred tax liability arises 

from: 

(a) the initial recognition of goodwill; or 

(b) the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction which: 

(i) is not a business combination; 

and 

(ii) at the time of the transaction, 

affects neither accounting 

profit nor taxable profit (tax 

loss). 
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However, for taxable temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates, and interests in joint 

ventures, a deferred tax liability shall be 

recognised in accordance with paragraph 39. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 15 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 15 of IAS 12. 

 

3.10 The terms ‘income’ and ‘tax depreciation’ in paragraphs 16 and 17 

of IAS 12 which were replaced with ‘profit’ and ‘capital 

allowance’ respectively in FRS 1122004 are reinstated. In addition, 

the phrase ‘in some jurisdictions’ which was removed from and 

the word ‘interest’ which was added to paragraph 16 of FRS 

1122004 is reinstated and removed respectively. Therefore, the 

proposed amendments to paragraphs 16 and 17 of FRS 1122004 will 

read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

15.16 … 

 

Example 

An asset which cost 150 has a carrying amount of 

100. Cumulative capital allowance depreciation 

for tax purposes is 90 and the tax rate is 25%. 
 

The tax base of the asset is 60 (cost of 150 less 

cumulative capital allowance tax depreciation of 

90). To recover the carrying amount of 100, the 

entity must earn taxable profit income of 100, but 

will only be able to deduct capital allowance tax 

depreciation of 60. Consequently, the entity will 

pay income taxes of 10 (40 at 25%) when it 

recovers the carrying amount of the asset. The 

difference between the carrying amount of 100 

and the tax base of 60 is a taxable temporary 

difference of 40. Therefore, the entity recognises 

a deferred tax liability of 10 (40 at 25%) 

representing the income taxes that it will pay 

when it recovers the carrying amount of the asset. 
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16.17 Some temporary differences arise when income 

or expense is included in accounting profit in one 

period but is included in taxable profit in a 

different period. … 

 

(a) interest revenue is included in 

accounting profit on a time proportion 

basis but may, in some jurisdictions, be 

included in taxable profit when cash is 

collected.  The tax base of any interest 

receivable recognised in the balance 

sheet with respect to such revenues is 

nil because the revenues do not affect 

taxable profit until cash is collected; 

(b) depreciation used in determining 

taxable profit (tax loss) may differ from 

that used in determining accounting 

profit.  The temporary difference is the 

difference between the carrying amount 

of the asset and its tax base which is the 

original cost of the asset less all 

deductions in respect of that asset 

permitted by the taxation authorities in 

determining taxable profit of the current 

and prior periods. A taxable temporary 

difference arises, and results in a 

deferred tax liability, when capital 

allowance tax depreciation is 

accelerated (if capital allowance tax 

depreciation is less rapid than 

accounting depreciation, a deductible 

temporary difference arises, and results 

in a deferred tax asset); and 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraphs 16 and 17 of 

FRS 112 will be identical to paragraphs 16 and 17 of IAS 

12. 
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3.11 The example on ‘non-industrial building’ in paragraph 17(d) of 

FRS 1122004 which is not found in paragraph 18(d) of IAS 12 is 

removed. In addition, paragraph 18(e) of IAS 12 which was 

removed from paragraph 17 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 17 of FRS 

1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

17.18 Temporary differences also arise when: 

….. 

(c) goodwill arises in a business 

combination (see paragraphs 2221 and 

3432); or 

(d) the tax base of an asset or liability on 

initial recognition differs from its initial 

carrying amount, for example when an 

entity acquires a non-industrial building 

or when it benefits from non-taxable 

government grants related to assets (see 

paragraphs 2322 and 3533).; or 

(e) the carrying amount of investments in 

subsidiaries, branches and associates or 

interests in joint ventures becomes 

different from the tax base of the 

investment or interest (see paragraphs 

38-45). 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 18 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 18 of IAS 12. 

 

3.12 The explanation regarding the tax effects of assets carried at fair 

value in paragraph 20 of IAS 12 which was removed from 

paragraph 19 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. In addition, paragraph 

20(b) of IAS 12 which was redrafted in paragraph 19(b) of FRS 

1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments to 

paragraph 19 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 
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19.20 FRSs permit or require certain assets to be 

carried at fair value or to be revalued (see, for 

example, FRS 116 Property, Plant and 

Equipment, FRS 138 Intangible Assets, FRS 139 

Financial Instruments: Recognition and 

Measurement and FRS 140 Investment 

Property). In some jurisdictions, the revaluation 

or other restatement of an asset to fair value 

affects taxable profit (tax loss) for the current 

period. As a result, the tax base of the asset is 

adjusted and no temporary difference arises. In 

Malaysia other jurisdictions, the revaluation or 

restatement of an asset does not affect taxable 

profit in the period of the revaluation or 

restatement and, consequently, the tax base of 

the asset is not adjusted. Nevertheless, the future 

recovery of the carrying amount will result in a 

taxable flow of economic benefits to the entity 

and the amount that will be deductible for tax 

purposes will differ from the amount of those 

economic benefits. The difference between the 

carrying amount of a revalued asset and its tax 

base is a temporary difference and gives rise to a 

deferred tax liability or asset. For a depreciable 

property, plant or equipment, tThis is true even 

if: 

(a) the entity does not intend to dispose of 

the asset. In such cases, the revalued 

carrying amount of the asset will be 

recovered through use and this will 

generate taxable income which exceeds 

the capital allowance depreciation that 

will be deductible allowable for tax 

purposes in future periods; or 

(b) the tax effect of a balancing charge 

and/or real property gains tax is 

deferred until the revalued asset is 

disposed. In such cases, the tax will 

ultimately become payable on sale of 

the revalued asset. tax on capital gains 
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is deferred if the proceeds of the 

disposal of the asset are invested in 

similar assets. In such cases, the tax will 

ultimately become payable on sale or 

use of the similar assets. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 20 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 20 of IAS 12. 

 

3.13 The guidance relating to tax effects of a non-depreciable property 

and non-qualifying building for tax allowance purposes in 

paragraphs 20 and 21 of FRS 1122004 which are not found in IAS 

12 are removed. Those paragraphs read: 

 

20. However, for a non-depreciable property, such as 

a freehold land, there is no recovery through use 

as the asset is not subject to depreciation.  The 

tax effect of any upward revaluation for such 

asset relates only to real property gains tax.  In 

such circumstances, deferred tax on the 

temporary difference (ie, the revaluation surplus) 

is recognised on the expected property gains tax 

payable if the entity has a firm commitment to 

dispose of the property in the foreseeable future.  

If the entity has no firm commitment to dispose 

of the revalued property in the foreseeable 

future, the minimum property gains tax rate of 

five per cent shall be used to recognise the 

deferred tax liability on the surplus arising from 

the revaluation. Similarly for an investment or 

investment property, which is not subject to 

depreciation or amortisation, no tax liability will 

crystallise through use. Accordingly, a deferred 

tax liability on a revaluation surplus is 

recognised if, and only if, a disposal of the 

revalued investment or revalued investment 

property will result in taxes payable and the 

entity has a firm commitment to dispose the 

investment or investment property. 
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21. For a building that does not qualify for tax 

allowances, a temporary difference arises on its 

initial recognition as it has a tax base of nil. 

Paragraph 14(b) of the Standard does not permit 

an entity to recognise a deferred tax liability on 

its initial recognition and subsequently. This 

exemption, however, does not apply to any 

revaluation surplus arising if the building is 

revalued upward subsequent to its initial 

recognition. This is because a building is a 

depreciable asset and therefore tax liability on 

the revaluation surplus will crystallise when the 

carrying revalued amount of the building is 

recovered through use or by disposal.  In the case 

when the entity has entered into a firm 

commitment, such as a binding sale arrangement, 

to dispose the building in the foreseeable future, 

the deferred tax liability shall be measured by the 

sum of the income tax rate based on the 

additional depreciation arising from the surplus 

in the intervening periods prior to the date of the 

disposal, if any, plus the real property gains tax 

payable on its disposal.  In all other 

circumstances, the deferred tax liability shall be 

measured by the income tax rate on the 

revaluation surplus arising from the revaluation 

of the building.  This is because in such cases, 

the future economic benefits generated from the 

use of the revalued building is subject to income 

tax. 

 

3.14 The phrase ‘Many taxation authorities’ in paragraph 21 of IAS 12 

which was replaced with ‘The Inland Revenue Board’ in 

paragraph 22 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. In addition, the word 

‘jurisdictions’ in paragraph 21 of IAS 12 which was either 

removed or replaced with the word ‘circumstances’ in paragraph 

22 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to paragraph 22 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined and deleted text is struck through): 
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22.21 Goodwill arising in a business combination is 

measured as the excess of the cost of the 

combination over the acquirer’s interest in the 

net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. The 

Inland Revenue Board does Many taxation 

authorities do not allow reductions in the 

carrying amount of goodwill as a deductible 

expense in determining taxable profit.  

Moreover, in such jurisdictions, the cost of 

goodwill is often not deductible when a 

subsidiary disposes of its underlying business.  

In such circumstances jurisdictions, goodwill has 

a tax base of nil. Any difference between the 

carrying amount of goodwill and its tax base of 

nil is a taxable temporary difference. However, 

this Standard does not permit the recognition of 

the resulting deferred tax liability because 

goodwill is measured as a residual and the 

recognition of the deferred tax liability would 

increase the carrying amount of goodwill. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 21 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 21 of IAS 12. 

 

3.15 The word ‘liability’ is added in paragraph 23 of FRS 1122004 in 

line with IASB’s technical correction list. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to paragraph 23 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined): 

 

23.22 A temporary difference may arise on initial 

recognition of an asset or liability, for example if 

part or all of the cost of an asset will not be 

deductible for tax purposes. The method of 

accounting for such a temporary difference 

depends on the nature of the transaction which 

led to the initial recognition of the asset or 

liability: 

… 
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With the proposed amendment, paragraph 22 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 22 of IAS 12. 

 

3.16 The guidance relating to depreciable leasehold property in 

paragraph 24 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is 

removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

24. For example, a depreciable leasehold property that 

neither qualifies for industrial building allowance 

nor for capital allowances would have a tax base of 

nil on initial recognition and subsequently. 

Temporary difference on the leasehold property 

would, therefore, be the carrying amount on initial 

recognition and subsequently. However, no 

deferred tax liability shall be recognised on this 

temporary difference, either on initial recognition 

or subsequently, because the tax effect arises from 

the initial recognition of the leasehold property. 

Similarly, temporary differences arising on initial 

recognition of other non-qualifying fixed assets, 

such as amounts in excess 50,000 for non-

commercial vehicles, shall be disregarded in the 

recognition of deferred tax liability of the entity. 

 

3.17 The term ‘asset’ and certain numbers in the example illustrating 

paragraph 22(c) of IAS 12 which were replaced with ‘non-

moveable fixture’ and other numbers in the example illustrating 

paragraph 23(c) of FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the 

proposed amendments to the example illustrating paragraph 23(c) 

of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through):  

 

Example Iillustrating Pparagraph 2322(c) 

An entity intends to use a non-moveable fixture an asset 

which costs 1,000 throughout its useful life of five years 

and then dispose of it for a residual value of nil. The tax 

rate is 30% 40%. Depreciation of the asset is not 

deductible for tax purposes. On disposal, any capital gain 

would not be taxable and any capital loss would not be 

deductible. 
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As it recovers the carrying amount of the asset, the entity 

will earn taxable income of 1,000 and pay tax of 300 400. 

The entity does not recognise the resulting deferred tax 

liability of 300 400 because it results from the initial 

recognition of the asset. 

 

In the following year, the carrying amount of the asset is 

800. In earning taxable income of 800, the entity will pay 

tax of 240 320. The entity does not recognise the deferred 

tax liability of 240 320 because it results from the initial 

recognition of the asset. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, the example illustrating 

paragraph 22(c) of FRS 112 will be identical to the 

example illustrating paragraph 22(c) of IAS 12. 

 

3.18 The example on ‘bond issued with warrants’ in paragraph 25 of 

FRS 1122004 which is not found in paragraph 23 of IAS 12 is 

removed. In addition, the phrase ‘some jurisdictions’ in paragraph 

23 of IAS 12 which was replaced with ‘Malaysia’ in paragraph 25 

of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments 

to paragraph 25 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined 

and deleted text is struck through): 

 

25.23 In accordance with FRS 132 Financial 

Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation the 

issuer of a compound financial instrument (for 

example, a convertible bond or a bond issued 

with warrants) shall classify classifies the 

instrument’s liability component as a liability 

and the equity component as equity. In Malaysia 

some jurisdictions, the tax base of the liability 

component on initial recognition is equal to the 

initial carrying amount of the sum of the liability 

and equity components. The resulting taxable 

temporary difference arises from the initial 

recognition of the equity component separately 

from the liability component. Therefore, the 

exception set out in paragraph 1415(b) does not 
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apply. Consequently, an entity recognises the 

resulting deferred tax liability. In accordance 

with paragraph 5961, the deferred tax is charged 

directly to the carrying amount of the equity 

component. In accordance with paragraph 5658, 

subsequent changes in the deferred tax liability 

are recognised in the income statement as 

deferred tax expense (income). 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 23 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 23 of IAS 12. 

 

3.19 The explanation regarding deductible temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint 

ventures in paragraph 24 of IAS 12 which was not included in 

paragraph 26 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to paragraph 26 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined): 
 

26.24 A deferred tax asset shall be recognised for all 

deductible temporary differences to the extent 

that it is probable that taxable profit will be 

available against which the deductible 

temporary differences can be utilised, unless 

the deferred tax asset arises from the initial 

recognition of an asset or liability in a 

transaction that: 

(a) is not a business combination; and 

(b) at the time of the transaction, affects 

neither accounting profit nor taxable 

profit (tax loss). 

However, for deductible temporary 

differences associated with investments in 

subsidiaries, branches and associates, and 

interests in joint ventures, a deferred tax asset 

shall be recognised in accordance with 

paragraph 44. 
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With the proposed amendment, paragraph 24 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 24 of IAS 12. 

 

3.20 The explanation regarding deductible temporary differences on 

general provision for doubtful debts in paragraph 27 of FRS 

1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is removed. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 27 of FRS 1122004 will read 

(deleted text is struck through): 
 

27.25 It is inherent in the recognition of a liability that 

the carrying amount will be settled in future 

periods through an outflow from the entity of 

resources embodying economic benefits. When 

resources flow from the entity, part or all of their 

amounts may be deductible in determining 

taxable profit of a period later than the period in 

which the liability is recognised. In such cases, a 

temporary difference exists between the carrying 

amount of the liability and its tax base. 

Accordingly, a deferred tax asset arises in 

respect of the income taxes that will be 

recoverable in the future periods when that part 

of the liability is allowed as a deduction in 

determining taxable profit. Similarly, if the 

carrying amount of an asset is less than its tax 

base, the difference gives rise to a deferred tax 

asset in respect of the income taxes that will be 

recoverable in future periods. This includes a 

general provision for doubtful debts which is 

setoff against the gross carrying amount of trade 

receivables on presentation in the balance sheet, 

but there is no equivalent deduction to the tax 

base of the trade receivables. 
 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 25 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 25 of IAS 12. 

 

3.21 The word ‘approved’ in paragraph 28(a) of FRS 1122004 which is 

not found in paragraph 26(a) of IAS 12 is removed. Therefore, the 
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proposed amendment to paragraph 28(a) of FRS 1122004 will read 

(deleted text is struck through): 
 

28.26 The following are examples of deductible 

temporary differences which result in deferred 

tax assets: 

(a) retirement benefit costs may be 

deducted in determining accounting 

profit as service is provided by the 

employee, but deducted in determining 

taxable profit either when contributions 

are paid to an approved a fund by the 

entity or when retirement benefits are 

paid by the entity. A temporary 

difference exists between the carrying 

amount of the liability and its tax base; 

the tax base of the liability is usually 

nil. Such a deductible temporary 

difference results in a deferred tax asset 

as economic benefits will flow to the 

entity in the form of a deduction from 

taxable profits when contributions or 

retirement benefits are paid; 
… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 26 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 26 of IAS 12. 

 

3.22 The word ‘back’ in paragraphs 28 and 29 of IAS 12 which was 

removed from paragraphs 30 and 31 of FRS 1122004 is reinstated. 

In addition, the explanation regarding the recognition of deferred 

tax asset on a tax loss if there exists sufficient taxable temporary 

differences in paragraph 30 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in 

IAS 12 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendments to 

paragraphs 30 and 31 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

30.28 It is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which a deductible temporary difference 

can be utilised when there are sufficient taxable 
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temporary differences relating to the same 

taxation authority and the same taxable entity 

which are expected to reverse: 

(a) in the same period as the expected 

reversal of the deductible temporary 

difference; or 

(b) in periods into which a tax loss arising 

from the deferred tax asset can be 

carried back or forward. 

In such circumstances, the deferred tax asset is 

recognised in the period in which the deductible 

temporary differences arise. For example, when 

the reporting entity operates only in Malaysia 

and is subject only to the Malaysian income tax 

laws, a deferred tax asset is recognised on a tax 

loss or any other deductible temporary 

differences (such as a general provision for 

warranty expense) if there exists sufficient 

taxable temporary differences.  This is because 

the deferred tax liability recognised on the 

taxable temporary differences will only 

crystallise when there is sufficient taxable profit 

in the future periods, and this will in itself 

provide assurance that the deferred tax asset will 

be realised. 

 

31.29 When there are insufficient taxable temporary 

differences relating to the same taxation 

authority and the same taxable entity, the 

deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent that: 

 

(a) … (or in the periods into which a tax 

loss arising from the deferred tax asset 

can be carried back or forward). … 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraphs 28 and 29 of 

FRS 112 will be identical to paragraphs 28 and 29 of IAS 

12. 

 



MASB ED 55 

- Section 3 

 

37 

3.23 The phrase ‘in some jurisdictions’ in paragraph 30 of IAS 12 

which was removed from paragraph 32 of FRS 1122004 is 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 32 of 

FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined): 

 

32.30 Tax planning opportunities are actions that the 

entity would take in order to create or increase 

taxable income in a particular period before the 

expiry of a tax loss or tax credit carryforward. 

For example, in some jurisdictions, taxable profit 

may be created or increased by: 

… 

(d)  selling an asset that generates non-taxable 

income (such as, in some jurisdictions, a 

government bond) in order to purchase 

another investment that generates taxable 

income. 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 30 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 30 of IAS 12. 

 

3.24 The additional explanation on the exception rule with regard to 

recognition of deferred tax asset on deductible temporary 

differences in paragraph 35 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in 

paragraph 33 of IAS 12 is removed. In addition, the guidance 

relating to deferred tax on asset that qualifies for re-investment or 

other allowances in excess of the normal capital allowances in 

paragraph 36 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is 

removed. Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraphs 35 

and 36 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

35.33 … Whichever method of presentation an entity 

adopts, the entity does not recognise the resulting 

deferred tax asset, for the reason given in 

paragraph 2322. This non-recognition principle 

has traditionally been applied to permanent 

differences, which may include other items, such 
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as a provision for an expense which is 

permanently disallowed for income tax purposes. 
 

36. Another case when a deferred tax asset arises on 

initial recognition of an asset is when it qualifies 

for re-investment or other allowances in excess 

of its normal capital allowances. In such a case, 

the carrying amount of the asset is less than its 

tax base on initial recognition, and this gives rise 

to a deductible temporary difference. However, 

for the reason given in paragraph 23, the entity 

does not recognise the resulting deferred tax 

asset on initial recognition of the asset and 

subsequently. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 33 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 33 of IAS 12. 

 

3.25 The section regarding investments in subsidiaries, branches and 

associates and interests in joint ventures, namely paragraphs 38 to 

40 and paragraphs 42 to 45 of IAS 12 which were redrafted and 

amended as paragraphs 41 to 42 of FRS 1122004 are reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraphs 41 and 42 of 

FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through): 

 

41.38 Temporary differences arise when the carrying 

amount of investments in subsidiaries, branches 

and associates or interests in joint ventures 

(namely the parent or investor’s share of the net 

assets of the subsidiary, branch, associate or 

investee, including the carrying amount of 

goodwill) becomes different from the tax base 

(which is often cost) of the investment or 

interest.  Such differences may arise in a number 

of different circumstances, for example: 

(a) the existence of undistributed profits of 

subsidiaries, branches, associates and 

joint ventures; 
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(b) changes in foreign exchange rates when 

a parent and its subsidiary are based in 

different countries; and 

(c) a reduction in the carrying amount of an 

investment in an associate to its 

recoverable amount. 

 

In consolidated financial statements, the 

temporary difference of an investment in a 

subsidiary, branch, associate or a joint venture 

may be different from the temporary difference 

associated with that investment in the parent’s 

separate financial statements if the parent carries 

the investment in its separate financial 

statements at cost or revalued amount. In respect 

of investments in local subsidiaries, associates or 

joint ventures, it is rare for temporary differences 

to arise because any such investments are usually 

carried at cost, which will be the same as its tax 

base. Similarly, investments in subsidiaries, 

associates and joint ventures are capital in 

nature, which are not tax-deductible or taxable 

on a subsequent disposal. Accordingly, no 

deferred tax asset or liability shall be provided 

on initial recognition and subsequently. In the 

investor’s separate financial statements, which 

must account for these investments under the 

cost method, no deferred tax liability would 

arise. Tax effects may, however, arise in respect 

of dividend receivable from overseas 

subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures and 

only when there exists a difference in the income 

tax rates between Malaysia and the overseas 

jurisdictions. Any such tax effect is normally 

accounted as a current tax expense (or tax 

income) in the period in which the dividend 

income is recognised. Accordingly, no deferred 

tax shall be recognised in the separate accounts 

of the investor in respect of undistributed profits 
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of overseas subsidiaries, associates or joint 

ventures. 

 

39 An entity shall recognise a deferred tax 

liability for all taxable temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates, and interests in joint 

ventures, except to the extent that both of the 

following conditions are satisfied: 

(a) the parent, investor or venturer is 

able to control the timing of the 

reversal of the temporary difference; 

and 

(b) it is probable that the temporary 

difference will not reverse in the 

foreseeable future. 

 

42.40 As a parent controls the dividend policy of its 

overseas subsidiary, it is able to control the 

timing of the reversal of temporary differences 

associated with that investment (including the 

temporary differences arising not only from 

undistribtuted profits but also from any foreign 

exchange translation differences). Furthermore, 

it would often be impracticable to determine the 

amount of income taxes that would be payable 

when the temporary difference reverses. This is 

because the amount of income tax payable, if 

any, is dependent on numerous complex factors, 

such as whether there exist tax treaties between 

the overseas jurisdictions and Malaysia, the 

differential income tax rates, and the intended 

period(s) in which the profits would be remitted. 

Therefore, when the parent has determined that 

those profits will not be distributed in the 

foreseeable future, or when remittance of those 

profits will not attract additional income tax 

liability, the parent does not recognise a deferred 

tax liability. The same considerations apply to 

investments in branches. 
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42 An investor in an associate does not control that 

entity and is usually not in a position to 

determine its dividend policy.  Therefore, in the 

absence of an agreement requiring that the 

profits of the associate will not be distributed in 

the foreseeable future, an investor recognises a 

deferred tax liability arising from taxable 

temporary differences associated with its 

investment in the associate.  In some cases, an 

investor may not be able to determine the 

amount of tax that would be payable if it 

recovers the cost of its investment in an 

associate, but can determine that it will equal or 

exceed a minimum amount.  In such cases, the 

deferred tax liability is measured at this amount. 

 

43 The arrangement between the parties to a joint 

venture usually deals with the sharing of the 

profits and identifies whether decisions on such 

matters require the consent of all the venturers or 

a specified majority of the venturers.  When the 

venturer can control the sharing of profits and it 

is probable that the profits will not be distributed 

in the foreseeable future, a deferred tax liability 

is not recognised. 

 

44 An entity shall recognise a deferred tax asset 

for all deductible temporary differences 

arising from investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates, and interests in joint 

ventures, to the extent that, and only to the 

extent that, it is probable that: 

(a) the temporary difference will reverse 

in the foreseeable future; and 

(b) taxable profit will be available 

against which the temporary 

difference can be utilised. 
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45 In deciding whether a deferred tax asset is 

recognised for deductible temporary differences 

associated with its investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates, and its interests in joint 

ventures, an entity considers the guidance set out 

in paragraphs 28 to 31. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraphs 38 to 40 and 

paragraphs 42 to 45 of FRS 112 will be identical to 

paragraphs 38 to 40 and paragraphs 42 to 45 of IAS 12. 

 

3.26 The phrase ‘some jurisdictions” in paragraph 48 of IAS 12 which 

was replaced with ‘Malaysia’ in paragraph 46 of FRS 1122004 is 

reinstated. In addition, the phrase ‘in the yearly Budget’ in 

paragraph 46 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is 

removed. Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 46 of 

FRS 1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through): 

 

46.48 Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities are 

usually measured using the tax rates (and tax 

laws) that have been enacted. In Malaysia 

However, in some jurisdictions, announcements 

of tax rates (and tax laws) by the Ggovernment 

in the yearly Budget have the substantive effect 

of actual enactment, which may follow the 

announcement by a period of several months. In 

these circumstances, tax assets and liabilities are 

measured using the announced tax rate (and tax 

laws). 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 48 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 48 of IAS 12. 

 

3.27 The explanation regarding sufficient tax credits for distribution of 

profits in the form of dividends in paragraph 48 of FRS 1122004 

which is not found in IAS 12 is removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

48. For entities with sufficient tax credits, 

distribution of profits in the form of dividends 
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would not attract additional tax liabilities. 

Consequently, no current or deferred tax 

liabilities shall be recognised for the 

undistributed profits. For entities that have no or 

insufficient tax credits, the distribution of some 

or all of its retained profits may attract additional 

tax liabilities. Consequently, when a reporting 

entity has recognised a declared or proposed 

dividend as a component of equity in its balance 

sheet, a current liability shall be recognised to 

the extent of the declared or proposed 

distribution not franked by its available tax 

credits. Paragraph 81 requires an entity to 

disclose whether it has sufficient tax credits to 

frank the distribution of its retained profits. 

 

3.28 The phrase ‘in some jurisdictions’ in paragraph 52 of IAS 12 

which was removed from paragraph 50 of FRS 1122004 is 

reinstated. In addition, the terms ‘tax rate’ and certain numbers in 

Example A and phrases ‘depreciation for tax purposes’, ‘tax 

depreciation’ and ‘inflation-adjusted’ in Examples B and C 

following paragraph 52 of IAS 12 which were replaced with 

‘balancing charge’, other numbers, ‘capital allowance’ and 

‘indexed’ in FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to paragraph 50 of FRS 1122004 and Examples A, B 

and C following it will read (new text is underlined and deleted 

text is struck through): 

 

50.52 In some jurisdictions, Tthe manner in which an 

entity recovers (settles) the carrying amount of 

an asset (liability) may affect either or both of: 

… 

 

 

Example A 

An machine asset has a carrying amount of 

1,000 100 and a tax base of 600.  The machine 

can be sold for cash of 900. A balancing charge 

tax rate of 30% 20% would apply if the machine 
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asset were sold for cash, and similarly, a tax rate 

of 30% would apply to other income. 

 

The entity recognises a deferred tax liability of 

90 (300 at 30%) 8 (40 at 20%) if it expects to 

sell the asset without further use and a deferred 

tax liability of 120 (400 at 30%) 12 (40 at 30%) 

if it expects to retain the asset and recover its 

carrying amount through use. 

 

 

Example B 

An asset with a cost of 100 and a carrying 

amount of 80 is revalued to 150. No equivalent 

adjustment is made for tax purposes. 

Cumulative capital allowance depreciation for 

tax purposes is 30 and the tax rate is 30%. If the 

asset is sold for more than cost, the cumulative 

capital allowance tax depreciation of 30 will be 

included in taxable income but sale proceeds in 

excess of cost will not be taxable. 

… 

 Taxable 

Temporary 

Difference 

Tax 

Rate 

Deferred 

Tax 

Liability 

Cumulative 

capital 

allowance 

tax 

depreciation 

 

 

30 

 

 

30% 

 

 

9 

Proceeds in 

excess of 

cost 

 

50 

 

nil 

 

- 

Total 80  9 

…    
 

 

Example C 

The facts are as in example B, except that if the 
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asset is sold for more than cost, the cumulative 

capital allowances tax depreciation will be 

included in taxable income (taxed at 30%) and 

the sale proceeds will be taxed at 40%, after 

deducting an indexed inflation-adjusted cost of 

110. 

… 

If the entity expects to recover the carrying 

amount by selling the asset immediately for 

proceeds of 150, the entity will be able to deduct 

the indexed cost of 110. The net proceeds of 40 

will be taxed at 40%. In addition, the 

cumulative capital allowances tax depreciation 

of 30 will be included in taxable income and 

taxed at 30%. … 

 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 52 of FRS 112 

and Examples A, B and C following it will be identical to 

paragraph 52 of IAS 12 and Examples A, B and C 

following it. 

 

3.29 The guidance and example in paragraphs 52A and 52B of IAS 12 

relating to measurement of current and deferred tax in jurisdictions 

where different tax rates apply if the retained earnings is 

distributed as dividend to shareholders which were not included in 

FRS 1122004 are reinstated. These paragraphs and example read: 

 

52A In some jurisdictions, income taxes are payable 

at a higher or lower rate if part or all of the net 

profit or retained earnings is paid out as a 

dividend to shareholders of the entity. In some 

other jurisdictions, income taxes may be 

refundable or payable if part or all of the net 

profit or retained earnings is paid out as a 

dividend to shareholders of the entity.  In these 

circumstances, current and deferred tax assets 

and liabilities are measured at the tax rate 

applicable to undistributed profits. 
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52B In the circumstances described in paragraph 52A, 

the income tax consequences of dividends are 

recognised when a liability to pay the dividend is 

recognised. The income tax consequences of 

dividends are more directly linked to past 

transactions or events than to distributions to 

owners.  Therefore, the income tax consequences 

of dividends are recognised in profit or loss for 

the period as required by paragraph 58 except to 

the extent that the income tax consequences of 

dividends arise from the circumstances described 

in paragraph 58(a) and (b). 

 

Example illustrating paragraphs 52A and 

52B 

The following example deals with the 

measurement of current and deferred tax 

assets and liabilities for an entity in a 

jurisdiction where income taxes are payable at 

a higher rate on undistributed profits (50%) 

with an amount being refundable when profits 

are distributed. The tax rate on distributed 

profits is 35%. At the balance sheet date, 31 

December 20X1, the entity does not recognise 

a liability for dividends proposed or declared 

after the balance sheet date. As a result, no 

dividends are recognised in the year 20X1. 

Taxable income for 20X1 is 100,000. The net 

taxable temporary difference for the year 

20X1 is 40,000. 

 

The entity recognises a current tax liability 

and a current income tax expense of 50,000. 

No asset is recognised for the amount 

potentially recoverable as a result of future 

dividends.  The entity also recognises a 

deferred tax liability and deferred tax expense 

of 20,000 (40,000 at 50%) representing the 

income taxes that the entity will pay when it 
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recovers or settles the carrying amounts of its 

assets and liabilities based on the tax rate 

applicable to undistributed profits. 

Subsequently, on 15 March 20X2 the 

entity recognises dividends of 10,000 

from previous operating profits as a 

liability. 

 

On 15 March 20X2, the entity recognises the 

recovery of income taxes of 1,500 (15% of the 

dividends recognised as a liability) as a 

current tax asset and as a reduction of current 

income tax expense for 20X2. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraphs 52A to 52B 

and the example illustrating paragraphs 52A and 52B of 

FRS 112 will be identical to paragraphs 52A to 52B and 

the example illustrating paragraphs 52A and 52B of IAS 

12. 

 

3.30 The additional explanation regarding discounting of deferred taxes 

in paragraph 52 of FRS 1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is 

removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 52 of 

FRS 1122004 will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

52.54 In principle, assets and liabilities (including 

deferred tax assets and tax liabilities) which 

represent monetary amounts receivable and 

payable in future periods shall be measured at 

their respective discounted present values. 

However, tThe reliable determination of deferred 

tax assets and liabilities on a discounted basis 

requires detailed scheduling of the timing of the 

reversal of each temporary difference. In many 

cases such scheduling is impracticable or highly 

complex. Therefore, it is inappropriate to require 

discounting of deferred tax assets and liabilities. 

To permit, but not to require, discounting would 

result in deferred tax assets and liabilities which 

would not be comparable between entities. 
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Therefore, this Standard does not require or 

permit the discounting of deferred tax assets and 

liabilities. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 54 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 54 of IAS 12. 

 

3.31 The guidance regarding withholding tax on dividends to 

shareholders in paragraph 65A of IAS 12 which was not included 

in FRS 1122004 is reinstated. That paragraph reads: 

 

65A When an entity pays dividends to its 

shareholders, it may be required to pay a portion 

of the dividends to taxation authorities on behalf 

of shareholders. In many jurisdictions, this 

amount is referred to as a withholding tax. Such 

an amount paid or payable to taxation authorities 

is charged to equity as a part of the dividends. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 65A of FRS 

112 will be identical to paragraph 65A of IAS 12. 

 

3.32 The additional explanation on Malaysian tax environment with 

regards to offsetting of current taxes between entities within a 

group in consolidated financial statements in paragraph 71 of FRS 

1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is removed. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 71 of FRS 1122004 will read 

(deleted text is struck through): 

 

71.73 In consolidated financial statements, a current 

tax asset of one entity in a group is offset against 

a current tax liability of another entity in the 

group if, and only if, the entities concerned have 

a legally enforceable right to make or receive a 

single net payment and the entities intend to 

make or receive such a net payment or to recover 

the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

However, in the Malaysian tax environment, 

such a legally enforceable right does not exist. 

Accordingly, a current tax asset of one entity in a 
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group shall not be offset against a current tax 

liability of another entity in the group. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 73 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 73 of IAS 12. 

 

3.33 The disclosure requirement on temporary differences associated 

with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint 

ventures and the income tax consequences of dividends to 

shareholders in paragraphs 81(f) and 81(i) of IAS 12 which were 

not included in FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to paragraph 79 of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

79.81 The following shall also be disclosed 

separately: 

…. 

(f) the aggregate amount of temporary 

differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries, branches 

and associates and interests in joint 

ventures, for which deferred tax 

liabilities have not been recognised 

(see paragraph 39); 

(f)(g) in respect of each type of temporary 

difference, and in respect of each type 

of unused tax losses and unused tax 

credits: 

(i) the amount of the deferred tax 

assets and liabilities recognised 

in the balance sheet for each 

period presented; 

(ii) the amount of the deferred tax 

income or expense recognised 

in the income statement, if this 

is not apparent from the 

changes in the amounts 
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recognised in the balance sheet; 

and 

(g)(h) in respect of discontinued operations, 

the tax expense relating to: 

(i) the gain or loss on 

discontinuance; and 

(ii) the profit or loss from the 

ordinary activities of the 

discontinued operation for the 

period, together with the 

corresponding amounts for 

each prior period presented; 

and 

(i) the amount of income tax 

consequences of dividends to 

shareholders of the entity that were 

proposed or declared before the 

financial statements were authorised 

for issue, but are not recognised as a 

liability in the financial statements. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 81 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 81 of IAS 12. 

 

3.34 The disclosure requirement on the sufficiency of tax credits to 

frank distribution of retained profits in paragraph 81 of FRS 

1122004 which is not found in IAS 12 is removed. That paragraph 

reads: 

 

81. An entity shall disclose whether there is 

sufficient tax credit to frank the distribution of 

its retained profits, and if there is insufficient 

tax credit, the extent of the retained profits not 

covered. 

 

3.35 The disclosure requirement relating to the nature of potential 

income tax consequences that would result from the payment of 
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dividends to shareholders in paragraph 82A of IAS 12 which was 

not included in FRS 1122004 is reinstated. That paragraph reads: 

 

82A In the circumstances described in paragraph 

52A, an entity shall disclose the nature of the 

potential income tax consequences that would 

result from the payment of dividends to its 

shareholders. In addition, the entity shall 

disclose the amounts of the potential income 

tax consequences practicably determinable 

and whether there are any potential income 

tax consequences not practicably 

determinable. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 82A of FRS 

112 will be identical to paragraph 82A of IAS 12. 

 

3.36 The word ‘overseas’ in paragraph 86 of FRS 1122004 which is not 

found in paragraph 87 of IAS 12 is removed. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 86 of FRS 1122004 will read 

(new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

86.87 It would often be impracticable to compute the 

amount of unrecognised deferred tax liabilities 

arising from investments in overseas 

subsidiaries, branches and associates and 

interests in joint ventures (see paragraph 4239). 

Therefore, this Standard requires an entity to 

disclose the aggregate amount of any the 

underlying temporary differences but does not 

require disclosure of the deferred tax liabilities. 

Nevertheless, where practicable, entities are 

encouraged to disclose the amounts of the 

unrecognised deferred tax liabilities because 

financial statement users may find such 

information useful. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 87 of FRS 112 

will be identical to paragraph 87 of IAS 12. 
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3.37 The disclosure requirement relating to potential income tax 

consequences of dividends payment to shareholders in paragraphs 

87A, 87B and 87C of IAS 12 which were not included in FRS 

1122004 are reinstated. Paragraphs 87A, 87B and 87C read: 

 

87A Paragraph 82A requires an entity to disclose the 

nature of the potential income tax consequences 

that would result from the payment of dividends 

to its shareholders. An entity discloses the 

important features of the income tax systems and 

the factors that will affect the amount of the 

potential income tax consequences of dividends. 

 

87B It would sometimes not be practicable to 

compute the total amount of the potential income 

tax consequences that would result from the 

payment of dividends to shareholders. This may 

be the case, for example, where an entity has a 

large number of foreign subsidiaries. However, 

even in such circumstances, some portions of the 

total amount may be easily determinable. For 

example, in a consolidated group, a parent and 

some of its subsidiaries may have paid income 

taxes at a higher rate on undistributed profits and 

be aware of the amount that would be refunded 

on the payment of future dividends to 

shareholders from consolidated retained 

earnings. In this case, that refundable amount is 

disclosed. If applicable, the entity also discloses 

that there are additional potential income tax 

consequences not practicably determinable. In 

the parent’s separate financial statements, if any, 

the disclosure of the potential income tax 

consequences relates to the parent’s retained 

earnings. 

 

87C An entity required to provide the disclosures in 

paragraph 82A may also be required to provide 

disclosures related to temporary differences 

associated with investments in subsidiaries, 

branches and associates or interests in joint 
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ventures. In such cases, an entity considers this 

in determining the information to be disclosed 

under paragraph 82A. For example, an entity 

may be required to disclose the aggregate 

amount of temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries for which no deferred 

tax liabilities have been recognised (see 

paragraph 81(f)). If it is impracticable to 

compute the amounts of unrecognised deferred 

tax liabilities (see paragraph 87) there may be 

amounts of potential income tax consequences of 

dividends not practicably determinable related to 

these subsidiaries. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraphs 87A, 87B and 

87C of FRS 112 will be identical to paragraphs 87A, 87B 

and 87C of IAS 12. 

 

3.38 The transitional provisions in paragraph 88 of FRS 1122004 which 

is not found in IAS 12 is removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

Transitional Provisions 
 

88. When the adoption of this Standard constitutes 

a change in accounting policy, the effects of the 

change in accounting policy shall be applied 

retrospectively and adjusted against the 

opening retained earnings.  The corresponding 

amounts of prior periods shall be adjusted for 

the change in accounting policy. 

 

3.39 The provision on the effective date of the Standard in paragraph 89 

of FRS 1122004 was consistent with paragraph 89 of IAS 12, the 

version before the incorporation of paragraphs 52A, 52B, 65A, 

81(i), 82A, 87A-87C. These paragraphs were added by IASC after 

the finalisation of FRS 1122004. Following the proposed 

amendments in paragraphs 3.29, 3.31, 3.33, 3.35 and 3.37 above, 

paragraph 89 of FRS 1122004 is redrafted to be consistent with 

paragraph 89 of IAS 12. Paragraph 2 of FRS 1122004 is moved to 

paragraph 90, similar to the placement of paragraph 90 of IAS 12. 
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Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraphs 89-91 of FRS 

1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

89. This Standard becomes operative for annual 

financial statements covering periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2002 2007, except 

as specified in paragraph 91. If an entity 

applies this Standard for financial statements 

covering periods beginning before 1 July 

2007, the entity shall disclose that fact it has 

applied this Standard instead of FRS 1122004 

Income Taxes. Earlier application of the 

Standard is encouraged. 

 

[Reason: “except as specified in paragraph 91” 

is deleted as all the provisions in this Standard 

have the same effective date.] 

 

90 This Standard supersedes FRS 1122004 Income 

Taxes. 

 

91 Paragraphs 52A, 52B, 65A, 81(i), 82A, 87A, 

87B, 87C and the deletion of paragraphs 3 

and 50 become operative for annual financial 

statements* covering periods beginning on or 

after 1 January 2001. Earlier adoption is 

encouraged. If earlier adoption affects the 

financial statements, an entity shall disclose 

that fact. 
 

 

 

* Paragraph 91 refers to ‘annual financial statements’ in line 

with more explicit language for writing effective dates 

adopted in 1998. Paragraph 89 refers to ‘financial 

statements’. 

 

3.40 The word ‘treatment’ in Example 11 in Appendix A: Section A 

[Examples of circumstances that give rise to taxable temporary 

differences] of IAS 12 which was not included in FRS 1122004 is 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to Example 11 in 

deleted 
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Appendix A: Section A of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

11. An entity revalues property, plant and equipment 

(under the revaluation model treatment in FRS 116 

Property, Plant and Equipment) but no equivalent 

adjustment is made for tax purposes (note: 

paragraph 59 61 of the Standard requires the related 

deferred tax to be charged directly to equity). 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, Example 11 in Appendix 

A: Section A of FRS 112 will be identical to Example 11 

in Appendix A: Section A of IAS 12. 

 

3.41 The example on hyperinflation in Example 18 in Appendix A: 

Section A [Examples of circumstances that give rise to taxable 

temporary differences] of IAS 12 which was not included in FRS 

1122004 is reinstated. That example reads: 

 

Hyperinflation 
 

18 Non-monetary assets are restated in terms of the 

measuring unit current at the balance sheet date 

(see FRS 129 Financial Reporting in 

Hyperinflationary Economies) and no equivalent 

adjustment is made for tax purposes. (notes: (1) 

the deferred tax is charged in the income 

statement; and (2) if, in addition to the 

restatement, the non-monetary assets are also 

revalued, the deferred tax relating to the 

revaluation is charged to equity and the deferred 

tax relating to the restatement is charged in the 

income statement). 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, Example 18 in Appendix 

A: Section A of FRS 112 will be identical to Example 18 

in Appendix A: Section A of IAS 12. 

 

3.42 The reference to paragraph 44 of IAS 12 in Example 12 in 

Appendix A: Section B [Examples of circumstances that give rise 
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to deductible temporary differences] of IAS 12 which was not 

included in FRS 1122004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to Example 12 in Appendix A: Section B of FRS 

1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

12. Investments in foreign subsidiaries, branches or 

associates or interests in foreign joint ventures are 

affected by changes in foreign exchange rates. 

(notes: (1) there may be a taxable temporary 

difference or a deductible temporary difference; and 

(2) paragraph 44 of the this Standard requires 

recognition of the resulting deferred tax asset to the 

extent, and only to the extent, that it is probable that: 

(a) the temporary difference will reverse in the 

foreseeable future; and (b) taxable profit will be 

available against which the temporary difference can 

be utilised).    

 

3.43 Examples 3 and 4 on accrued expenses and accrued income 

respectively in Appendix A: Section C [Examples of 

circumstances where the carrying amount of an asset or liability is 

equal to its tax base] of IAS 12 which were not included in 

Appendix A: Section C FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Those 

examples read:  

 

…. 

3 Accrued expenses will never be deductible for 

tax purposes. 

 

4 Accrued income will never be taxable. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, Appendix A: Section C 

of FRS 112 will be identical to Appendix A: Section C of 

IAS 12. 

 

3.44 Certain terms and sentences in Example 1 in Appendix B of IAS 

12 which were replaced in Example 1 in Appendix B of FRS 

1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments to 
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Example 1 in Appendix B of FRS 1122004 will read (new text is 

underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

Example 1 - Depreciable Aassets 
 

An entity buys equipment for 10,000 and depreciates it on 

a straight-line basis over its expected useful life of five 

years.  For tax purposes, the equipment qualifies for an 

initial allowance and an annual allowance of 20% each. is 

depreciated at 25% per annum on a straight-line basis. 

Tax losses may only be carried forward to offset back 

against future taxable profits of the previous five years. 

The entity has sufficient taxable profits in the next five 

years to utilise the benefit of any tax loss. In year 0, the 

entity’s taxable profit was 5,000. The tax rate is 30% 

40%. 
 

The entity will recover the carrying amount of the 

equipment by using it to manufacture goods for resale. 

Therefore, the entity’s current tax computation is as 

follows: 

 Year 

 1 2 3 4 5 

 

Taxable income 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

Initial allowance  (2,000)     

Annual 

allowance 

Depreciation for 

tax purposes 

 

(2,000) 

2,500 

 

(2,000) 

2,500 

 

(2,000) 

2,500 

 

(2,000) 

2,500 

 

 

0 

Taxable profit 

(tax loss) 

(2,000) 

(500) 

0 

(500) 

0 

(500) 

0 

(500) 

 

2,000 

Current tax 

expense (income) 

at 30 % 40% 

(600) 

(200) 

0 

(200) 

0 

(200) 

0 

(200) 

600 

800 

 

The entity recognises a current tax asset at the end of 

years 1 to 4 because it recovers the benefit of the tax loss 

against the future taxable profits of year 0. 
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The temporary differences associated with the equipment 

and the resulting deferred tax asset and liability and 

deferred tax expense and income are as follows: 

 Year 

 1 2 3 4 5 

 

Carrying amount 

 

8,000 

 

6,000 

 

4,000 

 

2,000 

 

0 

Tax base 
6,000 

7,500 

4,000 

5,000 

2,000 

2,500 
0 0 

Taxable temporary 

difference 

2,000 

500 

2,000 

1,000 

2,000 

1,500 

 

2,000 

 

0 

Opening deferred 

tax liability 

 

0 

600 

200 

600 

400 
600 

600 

800 

Deferred tax 

expense (income) 

600 

200 

0 

200 

0 

200 

0 

200 

(600) 

(800) 

Closing deferred 

tax liability 

600 

200 

600 

400 

 

600 

600 

800 

 

0 

 

The entity recognises the deferred tax liability in years 1 

to 4 because the reversal of the taxable temporary 

difference will create taxable income in subsequent year 5 

years. The entity’s income statement is as follows: 
 

 Year 

 1 2 3 4 5 

 

Income 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

 

2,000 

Depreciation 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 2,000 

Profit before tax 0 0 0 0 0 

Current tax 

expense (income) 

(600) 

(200) 

(0) 

(200) 

(0) 

(200) 

(0) 

(200) 

600 

800 

Deferred tax 

expense (income) 

600 

200 

0 

200 

0 

200 

0 

200 

(600) 

(800) 

Total tax expense 

(income) 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

Net profit for the 

period 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 

 

0 
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With the proposed amendments, Example 1 in Appendix 

B of FRS 112 will be identical to Example 1 in Appendix 

B of IAS 12. 

 

3.45 Example 2 of Appendix B of FRS 1122004 in respect of temporary 

differences and computation of deferred tax which is not found in 

IAS 12 is removed. That example reads: 

 

Example 2 - Temporary Differences and Computation 

of Deferred Tax 
 

The following items relate to the accounts of Mulia Sdn 

Bhd for the financial years ended 31 December 19x7 and 

19x8: 

 

(a) Net book value of fixed assets was 7,600 and 

8,800 as at 31 December 19x7 and 19x8 

respectively. Included in these amounts were net 

book values of land and building of 2,000 in 

19x7 and 2,500 in 19x8. The residual 

expenditures of qualifying fixed assets as at 31 

December 19x7 and 19x8 were 3,100 and 3,680 

respectively. 

(b) Mulia capitalises product development 

expenditures and amortises them over the 

expected useful lives of the products to which 

the expenditures relate. As at 31 December 19x7 

and 19x8, the deferred expenditures in the 

accounts were 4,000 and 5,600 respectively. 

Product development expenditures are claimed 

for income tax purposes when incurred. 

(c) The company maintains a provision for warranty 

costs in relation to warranties given for products 

sold. As at 31 December 19x7 and 19x8, the 

balances in the provision account were 3,000 and 

3,600 respectively. Warranty costs are deductible 

for income tax purposes when incurred. 
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(d) As at 31 December 19x7 and 19x8, accrued 

interest expenses were 800 and 900 respectively. 

Interest expenses are allowable for income tax 

purposes when paid. 

(e) Income tax rate was 30% in 19x7 and 28% in 

19x8. 

 

The computation of deferred tax is as follows: 

 

 
Carrying 

Amount 
Tax Base 

Temporary 

Differences 

19x7    

Taxable temporary differences:    

Fixed assets:    

Non-qualifying land and 

building 
2,000 - 2,000 

Qualifying fixed assets 5,600 3,100 2,500 

Deferred development 

expenditure 
4,000 - 4,000 

   8,500 

Deductible temporary differences:   

Provision for warranty costs (3,000) - (3,000) 

Accrued interest expense (800) - (800) 

   (3,800) 

No deferred tax shall be recognised on  

the non-qualifying land and building   

Deferred tax liability of other 

taxable temporary differences 

 

  30% x 6,500 

 

1,950 

Deferred tax asset of deductible 

temporary differences 

 

30% x (3,800) 

 

(1,140) 

Net deferred tax liability   810 

19x8    

Taxable temporary differences:    

Fixed assets:    

Non-qualifying land and 

building 
2,500 - 2,500 

Qualifying fixed assets 6,300 3,680 2,620 

Deferred development 

expenditure 
5,600 - 5,600 

   10,720 
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Deductible temporary differences:   

Provision for warranty costs (3,600) - (3,600) 

Accrued interest expense (900) - (900) 

   4,500 

No deferred tax shall be recognised on  

the non-qualifying land and building  

 

- 

Deferred tax liability of other 

taxable temporary differences 

 

28% x 8,220 

 

2,302 

Deferred tax asset of deductible 

temporary differences 

 

28% x (4,500) 

 

(1,260) 

Net deferred tax liability   1,042 

Less: Opening deferred tax liability  (810) 

Adjustment to opening deferred 

tax liability resulting from 

reduction in income tax rate 

 

2% x  

(6,500-3,800) 

 

 

54 

Deferred tax expense related to 

the origination of temporary 

differences 

  
 

286 

 
3.46 The terms ‘charitable donations’, ‘healthcare’ and ‘depreciation 

for tax purposes’ which were replaced with ‘donations to 

unapproved institutions’, ‘retirement’ and ‘capital allowance’ in 

Example 3: Deferred tax assets and liabilities in Appendix B of 

FRS 1122004 are reinstated. In addition, the explanation on the 

composition of the aggregate tax rate in the illustrative disclosure 

under sub-paragraphs (i) and (ii) in Example 2 in Appendix B of 

IAS 12 which was removed from FRS 1122004 is reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to Example 3: Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities in Appendix B of FRS 1122004 will read (new 

text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

Example 32 – Deferred Ttax Aassets and Lliabilities 

… 

Charitable Ddonations to unapproved institutions are 

recognised as an expense when they are paid and are not 

deductible for tax purposes. 

… 

In X5, the entity entered into an agreement with its 

existing employees to provide retirement healthcare 
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benefits to retirees. The entity recognises as an expense 

the cost of this plan as employees provide service. No 

payments to retirees were made for such benefits in X5 or 

X6. Retirement benefit Healthcare costs are deductible for 

tax purposes when payments are made to retirees. The 

entity has determined that it is probable that taxable profit 

will be available against which any resulting deferred tax 

asset can be utilised. 

… 

Current tax expense 

 X5  X6 

Accounting profit 8,775  8,740 

Add    

Depreciation for accounting 

purposes 
4,800  8,250 

Charitable Ddonations to 

unapproved institutions 
500  350 

Fine for environmental pollution 700  - 

Product development costs 250  250 

Retirement Healthcare benefits 2,000  1,000 

 17,025  18,590 

Deduct    

Capital allowances 

Depreciation for tax purposes 

(8,100)  (11,850) 

Taxable Profit 8,925  6,740 
    

Current tax expense @ 40% 3,570   

Current tax expense @ 35%   2,359 

 

… 
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Tax Bbase of Pproperty, Pplant and Eequipment 

Cost Building  Motor 

vehicles 

 Total 

      

Balance at 31/12/X4 50,000  10,000  60,000 

Additions X5 6,000  -  6,000 

Balance at 31/12/X5 56,000  10,000  66,000 

Additions X6 -  15,000  15,000 

Balance at 31/12/X6 56,000  25,000  81,000 

      

Cumulative Capital 

Allowances 

Accumulated 

depreciation 

10%  25%   

Balance at 31/12/X4 40,000  5,000  45,000 

Capital allowances 

Depreciation X5 

5,600  2,500  8,100 

Balance at 31/12/X5 45,600  7,500  53,100 

Capital allowances 

Depreciation X6 

5,600  6,250  11,850 

Balance 31/12/X6 51,200  13,750  64,950 

…      

Deferred Ttax Aassets, Lliabilities and Eexpense at 

31/12/X4 

 
Carrying 

Amount 
 

Tax 

Base 

Temporary 

Differences 

…      

Current income 

taxes payable 
3,000  3,000  - 

Accounts payable 500  500  - 

Fines payable -  -  - 

Liability for 

retirement healthcare 

benefits 

-  -  - 

…      
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Deferred Ttax Aassets, Lliabilities and Eexpense at 

31/12/X5  

 
Carrying 

Amount 
 

Tax 

Base 

Temporary 

Differences 

…      

Current income taxes 

payable 
3,570  3,570  - 

Accounts payable 500  500  - 

Fines payable 700  700  - 

Liability for 

retirement healthcare 

benefits 

2,000  -  (2,000) 

…      

 

Deferred Ttax Aassets, Lliabilities and Eexpense at 

31/12/X6 

 
Carrying 

Amount 
 

Tax 

Base 

Temporary 

Differences 

…      

Current income taxes 

payable 
2,359  2,359  - 

Accounts payable 500  500  - 

Fines payable 700  700  - 

Liability for 

retirement healthcare 

benefits 

3,000  -  (3,000) 

…      

 

Illustrative Ddisclosure 

… 

Explanation of the relationship between tax expense 

and accounting profit (paragraph 7981(c)) 

… 

(i) a numerical reconciliation between tax expense 

(income) and the product of accounting profit 

multiplied by the applicable tax rate(s), 
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disclosing also the basis on which the applicable 

tax rate(s) is (are) computed 

 X5 X6 

… 

Donations to unapproved 

institutions Charitable donations 

… 

200 122 

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the 

national income tax rate of 30% (X5: 35%) and 

the local income tax rate of 5%. 

 

(ii) a numerical reconciliation between the average 

effective tax rate and the applicable tax rate, 

disclosing also the basis on which the applicable 

tax rate is computed 

 X5 X6 

… 

Donations to unapproved 

institutions Charitable donations 

… 

2.3 1.4 

 

The applicable tax rate is the aggregate of the 

national income tax rate of 30% (X5: 35%) and 

the local income tax rate of 5%. 

 

An explanation of changes in the applicable tax rate(s) 

compared to the previous accounting period 

[paragraph 7981(d)] 

In X6, the government enacted a change in the national 

income tax rate from 4035% to 3530%. 

… 

 X5 X6 

Accelerated capital 

allowances depreciation for 

tax purposes 

9,720 10,322 

Liabilities for retirement   
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health care benefits that are 

deducted for tax purposes 

only when paid 

(800) (1,050) 

…   

 

 
With the proposed amendments, Example 2: Deferred tax 

assets and liabilities in Appendix B of FRS 112 will be 

identical to Example 2: Deferred tax assets and liabilities 

in Appendix B of IAS 12. 

 

3.47 The references made to paragraphs 42 and 81(f) in Example 3: 

Business combinations in Appendix B of IAS 12 which were 

removed from Example 4: Business combinations in Appendix B 

of FRS 1122004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment 

to Example 4: Business combinations in Appendix B of FRS 

1122004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

Example 43 – Business Ccombinations 

… 

If A has determined that it will not sell the investment in 

the foreseeable future and that B will not distribute its 

retained profits in the foreseeable future, no deferred tax 

liability is recognised in relation to A’s investment in B 

(see paragraphs 4139 and 4240 of the Standard). Note that 

this exception would apply for an investment in an 

associate only if there is an agreement requiring that the 

profits of the associate will not be distributed in the 

foreseeable future (see paragraph 42 of the Standard). A 

discloses the amount of the temporary difference for 

which no deferred tax is recognised, ie 70 (see paragraph 

81(f) of the Standard). 

… 

(b) the amount of any remaining temporary difference 

which is not expected to reverse in the foreseeable 

future and for which, therefore, no deferred tax is 

recognized (see paragraph 81(f) of the Standard). 
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With the proposed amendment, Example 3: Business 

combinations in Appendix B of FRS 112 will be identical 

to Example 3: Business combinations in Appendix B of 

IAS 12. 

 

3.48 The word ‘expense’ is added in Example 5: Compound financial 

instrument in Appendix B of FRS 1122004 in line with IASB 

correction list. Therefore, the proposed amendment to Example 5: 

Compound financial instrument in Appendix B of FRS 1122004 will 

read (new text is underlined): 

 

Example 54 – Compound Ffinancial Iinstruments 

 

… 

 Year 

 X4  X5  X6  X7 

Interest expense 

(imputed discount) -  75  83  91 

Deferred tax 

expense (income) 
-  (30)  (33)  (37) 

 -  45  50  54 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, Example 4: Compound 

financial instrument in Appendix B of FRS 112 will be 

identical to Example 4: Compound financial instrument in 

Appendix B of IAS 12. 

 



MASB ED 55 

- Section 3 

 

68 

Question: 

 

Do you agree with the removal of the transitional provision in paragraph 88 

of FRS 1122004 as proposed in paragraph 3.38 above? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 

 
 

 

Do you agree with the other proposed amendments above? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1122004 

with the proposed revised FRS 112.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1122004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 112  

 

 Paragraph 

in  

FRS 1122004 

Paragraph 

 in  

FRS 112 

Objective Objective  22B 21B 

1 1  23 22 

2 None  24 None 

3 2  25 23 

None 3  26 24 

4 4  27 25 

5 5  28 26 

6 6  29 27 

7 7  30 28 

8 8  31 29 

9 9  32 30 

10 10  33 31 

11 11  34 32 

12 12  35 33 

13 None  36 None 

None 13  37 34 

None 14  38 35 

14 15  39 36 

15 16  40 37 

16 17  41 38 

17 18  42 40 

18 19  None 39 

19 20  43 41 

20 None  None 42 

21 None  None 43 

22 21  None 44 

22A 21A  None 45 
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Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1122004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 112  

 

 Paragraph 

in  

FRS 1122004 

Paragraph 

 in  

FRS 112 

44 46  67 69 

45 47  68 70 

46 48  69 71 

47 49  70 72 

48 None  71 73 

None 50  72 74 

49 51  73 75 

50 52  74 76 

None 52A  75 77 

None 52B  76 78 

51 53  77 79 

52 54  78 80 

53 55  79 81 

54 56  80 82 

55 57  81 None 

56 58  None 82A 

57 59  82 83 

58 60  83 84 

59 61  84 85 

60 62  85 86 

61 63  86 87 

62 64  None 87A 

63 65  None 87B 

None 65A  None 87C 

64 66  87 88 

65 67  88 None 

66 68  89 89 

66A 68A  None 90 

66B 68B  None 91 

66C 68C    
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Section 4.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1182004 Revenue 

 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 18 Revenue and FRS 1182004. 

 

4.1 Paragraph 2 of FRS 1182004 on the exemption to exempt entities 

from compliance with certain paragraphs of the Standard which is 

not found in IAS 18 is removed. That sentence reads: 

 

2. Exempt entities* need not comply with 

paragraphs 21 and 27of this Standard.  

 

 

*  See MASB SOP 1 Exempt Entities for the definition of an 

exempt entity. 

 

4.2 Paragraph 7 of FRS 1182004 on the applicability of the Standard to 

agriculture which is based on IAS 18 (revised in 1993), ie before 

introduction of IAS 41 Agriculture, is reworded to follow the 

existing version of IAS 18. The same paragraph 7 of FRS 1182004 

relating to insurance contracts is also reworded to follow the 

existing version of IAS 18. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 7 of FRS 1182004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

7.6 This Standard does not deal with revenue arising 

from: … 

 (d)(c) insurance contracts of insurance entities 

(see within the scope of ED 51 

Insurance Contracts, FRS 2022004 

General Insurance Business and FRS 

2032004 Life Insurance Business); 

… 

(f) intial recognition and from changes in 

the fair value of biological assets related 

to agricultural activity (see ED 50 

Agriculture); 
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(h) natural increases in herds, and 

agricultural and forest products; and 
 

(g) initial recognition of agricultural 

produce (see ED 50); 
 

… 

(e)(h)(A) sale of development units in property 

development activities (see FRS 2012004 

Property Development Activities) 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 6 of FRS 118, 

except for sub-paragraphs 6(c), 6(f), 6(g) and 6(h)(A) will 

be identical to paragraph 6 of IAS 18. 

 

4.3 The definition on ‘probable’ in paragraph 8 of FRS 1182004 which 

is not found in paragraph 7 of IAS 18 is removed. That definition 

reads:  

 

8.7 The following terms are used in this Standard 

with the meanings specified: 

… 

Probable is defined as more likely than not to 

occur and a probability of greater than 50 

percent would be regarded as more likely than 

not to occur. 

…. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 7 of FRS 118 

will be identical to paragraph 7 of IAS 18. 

 

4.4 The guidance relating to the treatment of revenue from retainer 

fees in the last sentence of paragraph 26 of FRS 1182004 which is 

not found in paragraph 25 of IAS 18 is removed. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 26 of FRS 1182004will read 

(deleted text is struck through): 

 

26.25 For practical purposes, when services are 

performed by an indeterminate number of acts 

over a specified period of time, revenue is 

added 
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recognised on a straight-line basis over the 

specified period unless there is evidence that 

some other method better represents the stage of 

completion.  When a specific act is much more 

significant than any other acts, the recognition of 

revenue is postponed until the significant act is 

executed. However, in the case where revenue is 

predicated upon contractual arrangements that 

involve the payment of retainer fees, revenue 

shall be recognised with the elapse of time as 

provided for, irrespective of any acts executed. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 25 of FRS 118 

will be identical to paragraph 25 of IAS 18. 

 

4.5 The phrase ‘in such circumstances’ in paragraph 33 of FRS 1182004 

which is not found in paragraph 32 of IAS 18 is removed. 

Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 33 of FRS 

1182004will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

33.32 When unpaid interest has accrued before the 

acquisition of an interest-bearing investment, the 

subsequent receipt of interest is allocated 

between pre-acquisition and post-acquisition 

periods.; In such circumstances only the post-

acquisition portion is recognised as revenue. 

When dividends on equity securities are declared 

from pre-acquisition profits, those dividends are 

deducted from the cost of the securities. If it is 

difficult to make such an allocation except on an 

arbitrary basis, dividends are recognised as 

revenue unless they clearly represent a recovery 

of part of the cost of the equity securities. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 32 of FRS 118 

will be identical to paragraph 32 of IAS 18. 

 

4.6 Certain texts in the first paragraph following the heading “Sale of 

Goods” in the Appendix of IAS 18 which were replaced in FRS 

1182004 are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments to the 
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first paragraph following the heading “Sale of Goods” in 

Appendix A of FRS 1182004 will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

Appendix A 

… 

Sale of Ggoods 

 

The law and regulations in different industries countries 

may mean the recognition criteria in this Standard are 

met at different times.  In particular, the law may 

determine the point in time at which the entity transfers 

the significant risks and rewards of ownership. Therefore, 

the examples in this section of the appendix need to be 

read in the context of the laws relating to the sale of 

goods pertaining to the industry of the related transaction 

in the country in which the transaction takes place. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, the first paragraph 

following the heading “Sale of goods” in the Appendix of 

FRS 118 will be identical to the first paragraph following 

the heading “Sale of goods” in the Appendix of IAS 18. 

 

Question: 

 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1182004 

with the proposed revised FRS 118.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1182004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 118  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1182004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 118  

 

Objective Objective  25 24 

1 1  26 25 

2 None  27 26 

3 2  28 27 

4 3  29 28 

5 4  30 29 

6 5  31 30 

7 6  32 31 

8 7  33 32 

9 8  34 33 

10 9  35 34 

11 10  36 35 

12 11  37 36 

13 12  38 37 

14 13    

15 14    

16 15    

17 16    

18 17    

19 18    

20 19    

21 20    

22 21    

23 22    

24 23    
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Section 5.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1192004 Employee Benefits and Amendment to 

FRS 1192004 Employee Benefits – Actuarial Gains and 

Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures  
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 19 Employee Benefits and FRS 1192004. 

 

5.1 The term ‘net profit’ in the example illustrating paragraph 19 and 

paragraph 21 of FRS 1192004 is changed to ‘profit’ in line with 

IASB’s technical correction list. Therefore, the proposed 

amendment to the example illustrating paragraph 19 and paragraph 

21 of FRS 1192004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted 

text is struck through): 

 

Example Iillustrating Pparagraph 1918 

A profit-sharing plan requires an entity to pay 

a specified proportion of its net profit for the 

year to employees who serve throughout the 

year. If no employees leave during the year, 

the total profit-sharing payments for the year 

will be 3% of net profit. The entity estimates 

that staff turnover will reduce the payments to 

2.5% of net profit. 

The entity recognises a liability and an 

expense of 2.5% of net profit. 

… 

 

22.21 An obligation under profit-sharing and bonus 

plans results from employee service and not from 

a transaction with the entity’s owners. Therefore, 

an entity recognises the cost of profit-sharing and 

bonus plans not as a distribution of net profit but 

as an expense. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, the example illustrating 

paragraph 18 of FRS 119 and paragraph 21 will be 
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identical to the example illustrating paragraph 18 and 

paragraph 21 of IAS 19. 

5.2 The provision on the effective date of the Standard regarding the 

revised definition for plan assets and assets held by a long term 

employee benefit fund and qualifying insurance policy in 

paragraph 159 of IAS 19 together with the provision on the 

effective date in paragraphs 159A-159C and 160 of IAS 19 which 

were incorporated in the Amendment to FRS 1192004 are deleted as 

these paragraphs would no longer be applicable for FRS 119.  

Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraphs 162, 162A-

162C and 163 of FRS 1192004 will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

162.157  This Standard becomes operative for 

annual financial statements covering 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2003 July 2007. except as specified in 

paragraphs 159 and 159A. Earlier adoption 

is encouraged. If an entity applies this 

Standard to retirement benefit costs for 

financial statements covering periods 

beginning before 1 January 1999, the entity 

shall disclose the fact that it has applied this 

Standard instead of IAS 19 Retirement 

Benefit Costs approved in 1993. 

 

[Reason: “except as specified in paragraphs 

159 and 159A” is deleted as all the provisions 

in this Standard have the same effective date. 

The disclosure on the application of IAS 19 

Retirement Benefit Costs is not applicable as 

MASB Approved Accounting Standard IAS 19 

was already superseded with the issuance of 

MASB 29 Employee Benefits in 2003.] 

 

158 This Standard supersedes FRS 1192004 

Employee Benefits and Amendment to FRS 

1192004 Employee Benefits – Actuarial Gains 

and Losses, Group Plans and Disclosures. 
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159 The following become operative for annual 

financial statements covering periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2001: 

(a)  the revised definition of plan assets in 

paragraph 7 and the related 

definitions of assets held by a long-

term employee benefit fund and 

qualifying insurance policy; and 

(b)  the recognition and measurement 

requirements for reimbursements in 

paragraphs 104A, 128 and 129 and 

related disclosures in paragraphs 

120A(iv), 120A(g)(iv), 120A(m) and 

120A(n)(iii). 

Earlier adoption is encouraged. If earlier 

adoption affects the financial statements, an 

entity shall disclose that fact. 

 

162159A. The amendment in paragraph 58A becomes 

operative for annual financial statements 

covering periods ending on or after 31 May 

2002. Earlier adoption is encouraged. If 

earlier adoption affects the financial 

statements, an entity shall disclose that fact. 

 

162159B. An entity shall apply the amendments in 

paragraphs 32A, 34-34B, 61 and 120-121 for 

annual periods beginning on or after 1 

January 2006. Earlier application is 

encouraged. If an entity applies these 

amendments for a period beginning before 

1 January 2006, it shall disclose that fact. 

 

                                                 
  Paragraphs 159 and 159A refer to ‘annual financial 

statements’ in line with more explicit language for writing 

effective dates adopted in 1998. Paragraph 157 refers to 

‘financial statements’.  

deleted 

deleted 

deleted 
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162159C. The option in paragraphs 93A-93D may be 

used for annual periods ending on or after 

16 December 2004. An entity using the 

option for annual periods beginning before 

1 January 2006 shall also apply the 

amendments in paragraphs 32A, 34-34B, 61 

and 120-121. 

 

163160.  IAS 8 applies when an entity changes its 

accounting policies to reflect the changes 

specified in paragraphs 159–159C. In applying 

those changes retrospectively, as required by 

IAS 8, the entity treats those changes as if they 

had been applied at the same time as the rest of 

this Standard, except that an entity may 

disclose the amounts required by paragraph 

120A(p) as the amounts are determined for 

each annual period prospectively from the first 

annual period presented in the financial 

statements in which the entity first applies the 

amendments in paragraph 120A. 

 

[Reason: This provision is already provided in 

the Amendment to FRS 1192004 when MASB 

introduced the requirements specified in those 

paragraphs in 2006.] 

 

5.3 The reference made to paragraph 120A(l) in Appendix A 

illustrative example of the Amendment to FRS 1192004 is changed 

to paragraph 120A(m) in line with IASB’s technical correction 

list. Therefore, the proposed amendment to the references made in 

Appendix A illustrative example of FRS 1192004 will read (new 

text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

Amounts Rrecognised in the Bbalance Ssheet 

and Pprofit or Lloss, and Rrelated Aanalyses 

 

The final step is to determine the amounts to be 

recognised in the balance sheet and profit or loss, and the 

related analyses to be disclosed in accordance with 

deleted 

deleted 
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paragraph 120A(f), (g) and (l)(m) of the Standard (the 

analyses required to be disclosed in accordance with 

paragraph 120A(c) and (e) are given in the section of this 

Appendix ‘Changes in the present value of the obligation 

and in the fair value of the plan asset’). These are as 

follows: 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, Appendix A illustrative 

example of FRS 119 will be identical to the Appendix A 

illustrative example of IAS 19. 

 

 

Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendment? 
 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 

 
 



MASB ED 55 

- Section 5 

 

81 

Table of Concordance 
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10 9  35B 34B 

11 10  36 35 

12 11  37 36 

13 12  38 37 

14 13  39 38 

15 14  40 39 

16 15  41 40 

17 16  42 41 

18 17  43 42 

19 18  44 43 

20 19  45 44 

21 20  46 45 

22 21  47 46 

23 22  48 47 

24 23  49 48 

25 24  50 49 

26 25  51 50 

27 26  52 51 

28 27  53 52 
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Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1192004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 119  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1192004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 119  

 

54 53  86 85 

55 54  87 86 

56 55  88 87 

57 56  89 88 

58 57  90 89 

59 58  91 90 

59A 58A  92 91 

59B 58B  93 92 

60 59  94 93 

61 60  94A 93A 

62 61  94B 93B 

63 62  94C 93C 

64 63  94D 93D 

65 64  95 94 

66 65  96 95 

67 66  97 96 

68 67  98 97 

69 68  99 98 

70 69  100 99 

71 70  101 100 

72 71  102 101 

73 72  103 102 

74 73  104 103 

75 74  105 104 

76 75  106 104A 

77 76  107 104B 

78 77  108 104C 

79 78  109 104D 

80 79  110 105 

81 80  111 106 

82 81  112 107 

83 82  113 108 

84 83  114 109 

85 84  115 110 
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Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1192004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 119  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1192004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 119  

 

116 111  148 143 

117 112  149 144 

118 113  150 145 

119 114  151 146 

120 115  152 147 

121 116  153 148 

122 117  154 149 

123 118  155 150 

124 119  156 151 

125 120  157 152 

125A 120A  158 153 

126 121  159 154 

127 122  160 155 

128 123  161 156 

129 124  162 157 

130 125  None 158 

131 126  None 159 

132 127  162A 159A 

133 128  162B 159B 

134 129  162C 159C 

135 130  162D 159D 

136 131    

137 132    

138 133    

139 134    

140 135    

141 136    

142 137    

143 138    

144 139    

145 140    

146 141    

147 142    
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Section 6.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1202004 Accounting for Government Grants and 

Disclosure of Government Assistance 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 20 Accounting for Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 

Assistance and FRS 1202004. 

 

6.1 Paragraph 2 of FRS 1202004 on the applicability of the Standard to 

agriculture which is based on the version of IAS 20 before the 

introduction of IAS 41 Agriculture, is reworded to follow the 

existing version of IAS 20. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 2 of FRS 1202004 will read (new text is underlined): 

 

2. This Standard does not deal with: 

(a) the special problems arising in 

accounting for government grants in 

financial statements reflecting the 

effects of changing prices or in 

supplementary information of a similar 

nature; 

(b) government assistance that is provided 

for an entity in the form of benefits that 

are available in determining taxable 

income or are determined or limited on 

the basis of income tax liability (such as 

income tax holidays, investment tax 

credits, accelerated depreciation 

allowances and reduced income tax 

rates); and 

(c) government participation in the 

ownership of the entity.; 

(d) government grants covered by ED 50 

Agriculture. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 2 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 2 of IAS 20. 
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6.2 The alternative approach for recognition of non-monetary 

government grants in paragraph 23 of IAS 20 which was removed 

from paragraph 23 of FRS 1202004 is reinstated. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment to paragraph 23 of FRS 1202004 will read 

(new text is underlined): 

 

23. A government grant may take the form of a 

transfer of a non-monetary asset, such as land or 

other resources, for the use of the entity. In these 

circumstances, it is usual to assess the fair value 

of the non-monetary asset and to account for 

both grant and asset at that fair value. An 

alternative course that is sometimes followed is 

to record both asset and grant at a nominal 

amount. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 23 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 23 of IAS 20. 

 

6.3 If an entity recognises grant relating to asset as deduction in the 

carrying amount of such asset, paragraphs 24 and 25 of FRS 

1202004 requires additional disclosure similar to setting up such 

grant. This requirement which is not found in IAS 20 is removed. 

Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 24 of FRS 

1202004will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

24. Government grants related to assets, 

including non-monetary grants at fair value, 

shall be presented in the balance sheet either 

by setting up the grant as deferred income, or 

by deducting the grant in arriving at the 

carrying amount of the asset and in which 

case, the entity shall disclose additional 

information similar to setting up the grant as 

deferred income. 

 

25. An entity presenting grant related to assets by 

deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying 

amount of the assets shall disclose, for each 
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class of assets and the total of these classes, a 

reconciliation of depreciation before and after 

deduction of related government grant 

recognised as income. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 24 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 24 of IAS 20. 

 

6.4 If an entity recognises grant relating to income as deduction from 

the related expense, paragraph 30 of FRS 1202004 requires 

disclosure of a reconciliation of the related expense before and 

after deduction of the grant as well as reason why the approach is 

adopted. This requirement which is not found in paragraph 29 of 

IAS 20 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 30 of FRS 1202004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

30.29 Grants related to income shall be are sometimes 

presented as a credit in the income statement, 

either separately or under a general heading such 

as ‘Other income’.; Aalternatively, the grant 

related to income shall be they are deducted in 

reporting the related expense. If the alternative 

approach is adopted, an entity shall disclose a 

reconciliation of the related expense before and 

after deduction of the grant.  In addition, an 

entity shall provide reason why this alternative 

approach is adopted. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 29 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 29 of IAS 20. 

 

6.5 Certain terms and additional explanation in paragraph 33 of FRS 

1202004 which are not found in paragraph 32 of IAS 20 are 

removed and the terms used in paragraph 32 of IAS 20 are 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 33 

of FRS 1202004will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through): 
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Revocation Repayment of Ggovernment Ggrants 

 

33.32 A government grant that has been revoked by 

the government becomes repayable shall be 

accounted for as a revision to an accounting 

estimate (see FRS 108 Accounting Policies, 

Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors). 

Arising from such revocation, the government 

may require an entity to make repayments in 

monetary assets; or surrender non-monetary 

assets; or make repayments in any other forms. 

Repayment of a grant related to income shall 

be applied first against any unamortised 

deferred credit set up in respect of the grant. 

To the extent that the repayment exceeds any 

such deferred credit, or where no deferred 

credit exists, the repayment shall be 

recognised immediately as an expense. 

Repayment of a grant related to an asset shall 

be recorded by increasing the carrying 

amount of the asset or reducing the deferred 

income balance by the amount repayable. The 

cumulative additional depreciation that would 

have been recognised to date as an expense in 

the absence of the grant shall be recognised 

immediately as an expense. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 32 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 32 of IAS 20. 

 

6.6 With the proposed amendments in paragraphs 6.3 and 6.4 above, 

the explanation on the additional disclosure requirement in 

paragraph 40 of FRS 1202004 which is not found in paragraph 39 of 

IAS 20 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 40 of FRS 1202004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 
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40.39 In addition to those disclosures required by 

paragraphs 24, 25 and 30, tThe following 

matters shall be disclosed: 

… 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 39 of FRS 120 

will be identical to paragraph 39 of IAS 20. 

 

6.7 A new paragraph 41A is added in FRS 120 to withdraw FRS 

1202004 when the former is finalised as a standard. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment will read (new text is underlined): 

 

Withdrawal of FRS 1202004 added 

   

41A This Standard supersedes FRS 1202004 

Accounting for Government Grants and 

Disclosure of Government Assistance. 

 

   

 

Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1202004 

with the proposed revised FRS 120.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1202004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 120  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1202004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 120  

 

1 1  26 25 

2 2  27 26 

3 3  28 27 

4 4  29 28 

5 5  30 29 

6 6  31 30 

7 7  32 31 

8 8  33 32 

9 9  34 33 

10 10  35 34 

11 11  36 35 

12 12  37 36 

13 13  38 37 

14 14  39 38 

15 15  40 39 

16 16  41 40 

17 17  42 41 

18 18  None 41A 

19 19    

20 20    

21 21    

22 22    

23 23    

24 24    

25 None    
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Section 8.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1232004 Borrowing Costs 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs and FRS 1232004. 

 

7.1 The requirement to apply consistent treatment for recognition of 

borrowing costs attributable to qualifying assets in paragraphs 10 

and 12 of FRS 1232004 which are not found in IAS 23 are removed. 

Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 10 and 12 of 

FRS 1232004 will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

10.11 Borrowing costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition, construction or production 

of a qualifying asset shall be capitalised as 

part of the cost of that asset. This treatment 

shall be applied consistently to all borrowing 

costs that are directly attributable to the 

acquisition, construction or production of all 

qualifying assets of the entity. The amount of 

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation 

shall be determined in accordance with this 

Standard. 

 

12. Where an entity has chosen a policy of 

capitalising borrowing costs when all the 

conditions laid down in paragraph 10 are met, for 

purposes of comparability, that treatment shall be 

applied consistently to all qualifying assets of the 

entity.  The entity shall continue to capitalise 

such borrowing costs even if the carrying 

amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount.  However, under such circumstances, 

the carrying amount of the qualifying asset is to 

be written down or written off in accordance 

with the requirements of paragraph 19 of this 

Standard. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 11 of FRS 123 

will be identical to paragraph 11 of IAS 23. 
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7.2 The phrase ‘those borrowings’ in paragraph 15 of IAS 23 which 

was replaced with ‘that borrowing’ in paragraph 15 of FRS 1232004 

is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 15 

of FRS 1232004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through):  

 

15. To the extent that funds are borrowed 

specifically for the purpose of obtaining a 

qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing 

costs eligible for capitalisation on that asset 

shall be determined as the actual borrowing 

costs incurred on that borrowing during the 

period less any investment income on the 

temporary investment of that borrowing those 

borrowings. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 15 of FRS 123 

will be identical to paragraph 15 of IAS 23. 

 

7.3 The explanation on the characteristics of temporary investments in 

paragraph 16 of FRS 1232004 which is not found in paragraph 16 of 

IAS 23 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 16 of FRS 1232004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

16. The financing arrangements for a qualifying 

asset may result in an entity obtaining borrowed 

funds and incurring associated borrowing costs 

before some or all of the funds are used for 

expenditures on the qualifying asset. In such 

circumstances, the funds are often temporarily 

invested pending their expenditure on the 

qualifying asset. Temporary investments are 

highly liquid investments that are readily 

convertible to known amount of cash and which 

are subject to insignificant risks of changes in 

value. In determining the amount of borrowing 

costs eligible for capitalisation during a period, 

any investment income earned on such 
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investments funds is deducted from the 

borrowing costs incurred. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 16 of FRS 123 

will be identical to paragraph 16 of IAS 23. 

 

7.4 The transitional provisions in paragraphs 30 to 33 of FRS 1232004 

which are not found in IAS 23 are removed and paragraph 30 of 

IAS 23 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendments to 

paragraph 30 to 33 of FRS 1232004will read (new text is underlined 

and deleted text is struck through): 

 

30. In light of the comments received during the 

exposure period, the MASB has decided to 

provide a transitional period for entities to 

comply with this Standard. The transitional 

period provided takes cognizance that certain 

types of industries may have practical difficulties 

in complying immediately with the Standard. 

The transitional provisions are set out below. 

 

31. An entity that capitalises borrowing costs 

attributable to the acquisition, construction or 

production of a qualifying asset and continues 

to capitalise the borrowing costs even after all 

the activities necessary to prepare a qualifying 

asset for its intended use or sale are 

substantially complete, is allowed a transitional 

period to ensure full compliance with the 

allowed alternative treatment provisions of this 

Standard. This Standard requires such entities 

to fully comply with paragraphs 9-29 of this 

Standard for annual financial periods 

commencing on or after 1 July 2003. Where an 

entity avails itself of this transitional provision 

in the preparation of its financial statements, it 

shall comply with paragraph 29 and also 

disclose, by way of a note to its financial 

statements, the financial impact of the 

departure (i.e. capitalising instead of expensing 
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off) on the entity’s profit or loss, assets, 

liabilities, and equity for each period presented. 

 

32. For annual financial periods commencing on 

or after 1 July 2003, an entity which has 

adopted the allowed alternative treatment of 

capitalising borrowing costs and availed itself 

of the transitional provision above, shall 

comply with the recognition requirements of 

paragraphs 9 to 28. The change shall be 

applied retrospectively in accordance with FRS 

108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 

Accounting Estimates and Errors. 

 

33.30 Irrespective of the transitional provision above, 

the effect of adopting this Standard on its 

effective date shall be recognised retrospectively 

When the adoption of this Standard 

constitutes a change in accounting policy, an 

entity is encouraged to adjust its financial 

statements in accordance with FRS 108 

Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting 

Estimates and Errors. Alternatively, entities 

shall capitalise only those borrowing costs 

incurred after the effective date of the 

Standard that meet the criteria for 

capitalisation. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 30 of FRS 123 

will be identical to paragraph 30 of IAS 23. 
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Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1232004 

with the proposed revised FRS 123.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1232004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 123  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1232004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 123  

 

Objective Objective  24 24 

1 1  25 25 

None 2  26 26 

2 3  27 27 

3 4  28 28 

4 5  29 29 

5 6  30 None 

6 7  31 None 

7 8  32 None 

8 9  33 30 

9 10  34 31 

10 11    

11 12    

12 None    

13 13    

14 14    

15 15    

16 16    

17 17    

18 18    

19 19    

20 20    

21 21    

22 22    

23 23    
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Section 8.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1262004 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement 

Benefit Plans 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 26 Accounting and Reporting by Retirement Benefit Plans and FRS 

1262004. 

 

8.1 The word ‘employer’s’ in the definition of retirement benefit plans 

in paragraph 9 of FRS 1262004 which is not found in paragraph 8 of 

IAS 26 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 9 of FRS 1262004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

Definitions 

 

9.8 The following terms are used in this Standard 

with the meanings specified: 

… 

Retirement benefit plans are arrangements 

whereby an entity provides benefits for its 

employees on or after termination of service 

(either in the form of an annual income or as 

a lump sum) when such benefits, or the 

employer’s contributions towards them, can 

be determined or estimated in advance of 

retirement from the provisions of a document 

or from the entity’s practices. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 8 of FRS 126 

will be identical to paragraph 8 of IAS 26. 

 

8.2 A new paragraph 37A is added in FRS 126 to withdraw FRS 

1262004 when the former is finalised as a standard. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment will read (new text is underlined): 
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Withdrawal of FRS 1262004 added 

   

37A This Standard supersedes FRS 1262004 

Accounting and Reporting by Retirement 

Benefit Plans. 

 

   

 

Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1262004 

with the proposed revised FRS 126.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1262004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 126  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1262004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 126  

 

Objective Objective  24 23 

1 1  25 24 

2 None  26 25 

3 2  27 26 

4 3  28 27 

5 4  29 28 

6 5  30 29 

7 6  31 30 

8 7  32 31 

9 8  33 32 

10 9  34 33 

11 10  35 34 

12 11  36 35 

13 12  37 36 

14 13  38 37 

15 14  None 37A 

16 15    

17 16    

18 17    

19 18    

20 19    

21 20    

22 21    

23 22    
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Section 10.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1342004 Interim Financial Reporting 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting and FRS 1342004. 

 

9.1 Paragraph IN3 of IAS 34 which was redrafted to take into account 

local law in FRS 1342004 is maintained. The original text of IAS 34 

is shown for users’ reference. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to paragraph IN3 of FRS 1342004will read: 

 

IN3. This Standard does not mandate which entities 

should publish interim financial reports, how 

frequently, or how soon after the end of an 

interim period. It is the MASB’s view that those 

matters would be determined by the relevant 

regulatory bodies. In IASC’s judgement, those 

matters should be decided by national 

governments, securities regulators, stock 

exchanges, and accountancy bodies. This 

Standard applies if a company is required or 

elects to publish an interim financial report in 

accordance with Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

9.2 The explanation on the quarterly interim reporting by local stock 

exchanges in paragraph IN10 of FRS 1342004 with regards to 

entities listed on the local stock exchange which is not found in 

IAS 34 is removed. That paragraph reads: 

 

IN10. As far as entities listed on the local stock 

exchanges are concerned, their listing 

requirements would require quarterly interim 

reports to comply with this Standard and any 

other disclosure requirements determined by the 

stock exchanges from time to time. 

 

9.3 Paragraph 1(a) of IAS 34 on half yearly interim financial reports 

which was removed from paragraph 1 of FRS 1342004 is reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 1 of FRS 
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1342004will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

1. This Standard does not mandate which entities 

shall should be required to publish interim 

financial reports, how frequently, or how soon 

after the end of an interim period. However, the 

Bursa Listing Requirements governments, 

securities regulators, stock exchanges, and 

accountancy bodies often requires entities whose 

debt or equity securities are publicly traded to 

publish interim financial reports. This Standard 

applies if an entity is required or elects to publish 

an interim financial report in accordance with 

Financial Reporting Standards. The Malaysian 

Accounting Standards Board encourages all 

entities which elect publicly traded entities to 

provide interim financial reports to that conform 

to the recognition, measurement, and disclosure 

principles set out in this Standard. Specifically, 

publicly traded entities are encouraged: 

(a) to provide interim financial reports at 

least as of the end of the first half of 

their financial year; and 

(b) Entities, which elect to publish their 

interim financial reports, are 

encouraged to make their interim 

financial reports available not later than 

60 days after the end of the interim 

period.  

 

 
With the proposed amendments, paragraph 1 of FRS 134 

will be identical to paragraph 1 of IAS 34. 

 

9.4 The explanation regarding disclosure of additional line items or 

notes in condensed interim financial statements in paragraph 10 of 

FRS 1342004 which is not found in paragraph 10 of IAS 34 is 

removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 10 of 

FRS 1342004will read (deleted text is struck through): 
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10. If an entity publishes a set of condensed 

financial statements in its interim financial 

report, those condensed statements shall 

include, at a minimum, each of the headings 

and subtotals that were included in its most 

recent annual financial statements and the 

selected explanatory notes as required by this 

Standard. Additional line items or notes shall 

be included if their significance in the overall 

context of the entities has changed since the 

most recent annual financial report and their 

omission would make the condensed interim 

financial statements misleading. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 10 of FRS 134 

will be identical to paragraph 10 of IAS 34. 

 

9.5 The disclosure requirement on qualified audit report, cancellations 

and resale of debt and equity securities and valuations of property, 

plant and equipment in paragraphs 16(b), 16(f) and 16(i) 

respectively of FRS 1342004 which are not found in IAS 34 are 

removed. Therefore, the proposed amendments to paragraph 16 of 

FRS 1342004 will read (deleted text is struck through): 

 

16. An entity shall include the following 

information, as a minimum, in the notes to its 

interim financial statements, if material and if 

not disclosed elsewhere in the interim 

financial report. The information shall 

normally be reported on a financial year-to-

date basis. However, the entity shall also 

disclose any events or transactions that are 

material to an understanding of the current 

interim period: 

… 

(b) where the audit report of the entity’s 

preceding annual financial statements 

was qualified, disclosure of the 



MASB ED 55 

- Section 9 

 

102 

qualification and the current status of 

the matter(s) giving rise to the 

qualification; 

(c)(b) explanatory comments about the 

seasonality or cyclicality of interim 

operations; 

(d)(c) the nature and amount of items 

affecting assets, liabilities, equity, net 

income, or cash flows that are 

unusual because of their nature, size, 

or incidence; 

(e)(d) the nature and amount of changes in 

estimates of amounts reported in 

prior interim periods of the current 

financial year or changes in estimates 

of amounts reported in prior 

financial years, if those changes have 

a material effect in the current 

interim period; 

(f)(e)  issuances, cancellations, repurchases, 

resale and repayments of debt and 

equity securities; 

(g)(f) dividends paid (aggregate or per 

share) separately for ordinary shares 

and other shares; 

(h)(g) segment revenue and segment result 

for business segments or geographical 

segments, whichever is the entity’s 

primary basis of segment reporting 

(disclosure of segment data is 

required in an entity’s interim 

financial report only if FRS 1142004 

Segment Reporting requires that 

entity to disclose segment data in its 

annual financial statements); 

(i) where valuations of property, plant 

and equipment have been brought 
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forward, without amendment from the 

previous annual financial statements, 

a statement to that effect shall be 

given; 

(j)(h) material events subsequent to the end 

of the interim period that have not 

been reflected in the financial 

statements for the interim period; 

(k)(i) the effect of changes in the 

composition of the entity during the 

interim period, including business 

combinations, acquisition or disposal 

of subsidiaries and long-term 

investments, restructurings, and 

discontinued operations. In the case 

of business combinations, the entity 

shall disclose the information 

required to be disclosed under 

paragraphs 66-73 of FRS 3 Business 

Combinations; and 

(l)(j) changes in contingent liabilities or 

contingent assets since the last annual 

balance sheet date. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 16 of FRS 134 

will be identical to paragraph 16 of IAS 34. 

 

9.6 The statement ‘contains a complete set of financial statements’ in 

paragraph 19 of FRS 1342004 which is not found in paragraph 19 of 

IAS 34 is removed. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph 19 of FRS 1342004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

Other Disclosures of compliance with FRSs 

19. If an entity’s interim financial report is in 

compliance with this Standard, that fact shall be 

disclosed. Where aAn interim financial report 

contains a complete set of financial statements, it 
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shall not be described as complying with 

Financial Reporting Standards unless it 

complies with all of the requirements of each 

applicable Financial Reporting Standards. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 19 of FRS 134 

will be identical to paragraph 19 of IAS 34. 

 

9.7 The additional explanations on disclosures of condensed interim 

financial statements in paragraphs 20 to 22 of FRS 1342004 which 

are not found in IAS 34 are removed. Those paragraphs read: 

 

20. Where an entity includes condensed financial 

statements in its interim financial report, those 

condensed statements must be clearly labelled as 

such. 

 

21. The interim financial report containing 

condensed financial statements must prominently 

display an explicit statement that the interim 

financial report is to be read in conjunction with 

the most recent annual financial report. 

 

22. It is important that the reader of an interim 

financial report which includes only condensed 

financial statements is aware that the report is to be 

read in the context of the most recent annual 

financial report, because the interim financial 

report focuses on the effects of transactions, events 

and circumstances that have occurred since that 

report. 

 

9.8 A new paragraph 46A is added in FRS 134 to withdraw FRS 

1342004 when the former is finalised as a standard. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment will read (new text is underlined): 

 

Withdrawal of FRS 1342004 added 

   

46A This Standard supersedes FRS 1342004 

Interim Financial Reporting. 
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9.9 Example B1 in Appendix B of IAS 34 on employer payroll taxes 

and insurance contributions which was removed from FRS 1342004 

is reinstated. That example reads: 

 

Employer payroll taxes and insurance 

contributions 
 

B1 If employer payroll taxes or contributions to 

government-sponsored insurance funds are 

assessed on an annual basis, the employer’s related 

expense is recognised in interim periods using an 

estimated average annual effective payroll tax or 

contribution rate, even though a large portion of the 

payments may be made early in the financial year.  

A common example is an employer payroll tax or 

insurance contribution that is imposed up to a 

certain maximum level of earnings per employee.  

For higher income employees, the maximum 

income is reached before the end of the financial 

year, and the employer makes no further payments 

through the end of the year. 

 

9.10 Examples B12 to B16 in Appendix B of IAS 34 on the calculation 

of interim income tax expense which were redrafted in FRS 

1342004 to take into account local circumstances are reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendments to Examples B11 to B15 in 

Appendix B of FRS 1342004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

Effective Tax Rate 

B11.B12 Income taxes are assessed on an annual basis. 

Interim period income tax expense is 

calculated by applying to an interim period’s 

pre-tax income accrued using the tax rate that 

would be applicable to expected total annual 

earnings, that is, the estimated effective tax 

rate for the year average annual effective 

income tax rate applied to the pre-tax income 
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of the interim period. As Malaysian entities are 

not subject to progressive tax rates, the tax rate 

is known. However, Malaysian entities may 

operate in foreign jurisdictions through 

overseas subsidiaries that are subject to a 

progressive tax rate regime and therefore need 

to estimate an average annual effective tax 

rate. 

 

B12.B13 Estimating an average annual effective tax rate 

and applying it to the pre-tax profit of the 

interim period This is consistent with the basic 

concept set out in paragraph 3128 of this 

Standard that the same accounting recognition 

and measurement principles shall be applied in 

an interim financial statements report as are 

applied in annual financial statements. Income 

taxes are assessed on an annual basis. Interim 

period income tax expense is calculated by 

applying to an interim period’s pre-tax income 

the tax rate that would be applicable to 

expected total annual earnings, that is, the 

estimated average annual effective income tax 

rate. TheThat estimated average annual 

effective tax rate would reflect a blend of the 

progressive tax rate structure expected to be 

applicable to the full financial year’s earnings 

including enacted or substantively enacted 

changes in the income tax rates scheduled to 

take effect later in the financial year. FRS 112 

Income Taxes provides guidance on 

substantively enacted changes in tax rates. The 

estimated average annual income tax rate 

would be re-estimated on a year-to-date basis, 

consistent with paragraph 3128 of this 

Standard.  Paragraph 16 (e)(d) requires 

disclosure of a significant change in estimate. 

 

B13. Events and expenditure that are expected to 

fall in the second part of the year and would 

affect the effective tax rate for the year shall 
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be brought into the estimate on a prudent 

basis.  For example, capital expenditure is 

usually planned in advance and it is therefore 

possible to take account of the expected tax 

credits, if any, in calculating the effective tax 

rate for the year.  It would not normally be 

appropriate, however, to take account of the 

tax effects of other significant events that, 

although expected to arise in the second part of 

the year, are subject to considerable 

uncertainty. 

 

B14. To the extent practicable, a separate estimated 

average annual effective income tax rate is 

determined for each taxing jurisdiction and 

applied individually to the interim period pre-

tax income of each jurisdiction.  Similarly, if 

different income tax rates apply to different 

categories of income (such as capital gains or 

income earned in particular industries), to the 

extent practicable a separate rate is applied to 

each individual category of interim period pre-

tax income.  While that degree of precision is 

desirable, it may not be achievable in all cases, 

and a weighted average of rates across 

jurisdictions or across categories of income is 

used if it is a reasonable approximation of the 

effect of using more specific rates. 

 

B15 To illustrate the application of the foregoing 

principle, an entity reporting quarterly expects 

to earn 10,000 pre-tax each quarter and 

operates in a jurisdiction with a tax rate of 20 

per cent on the first 20,000 of annual earnings 

and 30 per cent on all additional earnings. 

Actual earnings match expectations. The 

following table shows the amount of income 

tax expense that is reported in each quarter: 
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 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Annual 
 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter  

Tax 

expense 

 

2,500 

 

2,500 

 

2,500 

 

2,500 

 

10,000 

 

10,000 of tax is expected to be payable for the 

full year on 40,000 of pre-tax income. 

 

B15.B16 As another illustration, an entity reports 

quarterly, earns 15,000 pre-tax profit in the 

first quarter but expects to incur losses of 

5,000 in each of the three remaining quarters 

(thus having zero income for the year), and 

operates in a jurisdiction in which its estimated 

effective average annual income tax rate for 

the year is expected to be 28 20 per cent. The 

following table shows the amount of income 

tax expense that is reported in each quarter. 

 
 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Annual 

 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter  

 

Tax 

expense 

 

4,200 

3,000 

 

(1,400) 

(1,000) 

 

(1,400) 

(1,000) 

 

(1,400) 

(1,000) 

 

 

0 

 

Even though the actual amount of tax paid for 

the year will be zero, the principles of this 

Standard require that the income for the 

interim period shall be multiplied by the 

annual tax rate of 28 per cent. In this approach, 

each period is treated as discrete. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, examples B12-B16 in 

Appendix B of FRS 134 will be identical to examples 

B12-B16 in Appendix B of IAS 34. 

 

9.11 The explanation and illustration with regards to different financial 

reporting year and tax year in examples B17 and B18 in Appendix 

B of IAS 34 which were removed from FRS 1342004 are reinstated. 

Examples B17 and B18 read: 
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Difference in financial reporting year and 

tax year 

 

B17 If the financial reporting year and the income 

tax year differ, income tax expense for the 

interim periods of that financial reporting year 

is measured using separate weighted average 

estimated effective tax rates for each of the 

income tax years applied to the portion of pre-

tax income earned in each of those income tax 

years. 

 

B18 To illustrate, an entity’s financial reporting 

year ends 30 June and it reports quarterly.  Its 

taxable year ends 31 December.  For the 

financial year that begins 1 July, Year 1 and 

ends 30 June, Year 2, the entity earns 10,000 

pre-tax each quarter. The estimated average 

annual income tax rate is 30 per cent in Year 1 

and 40 per cent in Year 2. 

 
 Quarter 

ending  

30 Sept 

Quarter 

ending  

31 Dec 

Quarter 

ending  

31 Mar 

Quarter 

ending 

30 June 

Year 

ending  

30 June 

 Year 1 Year 1 Year 2 Year 2 Year 2 

Tax 

expense 

 

3,000 

 

3,000 

 

4,000 

 

4,000 

 

14,000 

 

9.12 The explanation on tax benefits received from a one-time event in 

an interim period in example B19 in Appendix B of IAS 34 which 

was removed from example B16 in Appendix B of FRS 1342004 is 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to example B16 in 

Appendix B of FRS 1342004will read (new text is underlined and 

deleted text is struck through): 

 

B16.B19 Some tax jurisdictions give Ttaxpayers may 

receive credits against the tax payable based 

on amounts of capital expenditures, exports, 

research and development expenditures, or 

other bases. Anticipated tax benefits of this 

type for the full year are generally reflected in 
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computing the estimated annual effective 

income tax rate for the year, because those 

credits are granted and calculated on an annual 

basis under most tax laws and regulations. On 

the other hand, tax benefits that relate to a one-

time event are recognised in computing 

income tax expense in that interim period, in 

the same way that special tax rates applicable 

to particular categories of income are not 

blended into a single effective annual tax rate.  

Moreover, in some jurisdictions tax benefits or 

credits, including those related to capital 

expenditures and levels of exports, while 

reported on the income tax return, are more 

similar to a government grant and are 

recognised in the interim period in which they 

arise. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, example B19 in Appendix 

B of FRS 134 will be identical to example B19 in 

Appendix B of IAS 34. 

 

9.13 The explanation in example B20 in Appendix B of IAS 34 with 

regards to tax loss and tax credit carrybacks and carryforwards 

which was removed from FRS 1342004 is reinstated. The phrase 

‘average annual income tax rate’ in example B22 in Appendix B 

of IAS 34 which was replaced with ‘effective tax rate for the year’ 

in example B17 [Example 1] in Appendix B of FRS 1342004 is 

reinstated. In addition the illustration in example B17 [Example 2] 

in Appendix B of FRS 1342004 on operating loss carryforward 

which is not found in IAS 34 is removed.  Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to the section following the heading “Tax Loss and 

Tax Credit Carryforwards” in Appendix B of FRS 1342004 will read 

(new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

Tax Lloss and Ttax Ccredit carrybacks and 

Ccarryforwards 

 

B20 The benefits of a tax loss carryback are 

reflected in the interim period in which the 
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related tax loss occurs. FRS 112 provides that 

‘the benefit relating to a tax loss that can be 

carried back to recover current tax of a 

previous period shall be recognised as an 

asset’. A corresponding reduction of tax 

expense or increase of tax income is also 

recognised. 

 

B17.B21 FRS 112 Income Taxes provides that ‘a 

deferred tax asset shall be recognised for the 

carryforward of unused tax losses and unused 

tax credits to the extent that it is probable that 

future taxable profits will be available against 

which the unused tax losses and unused tax 

credits can be utilised’. … 
 

Example 1 

B22 To illustrate, Aan entity that reports quarterly 

has an operating loss carryforward of 10,000 

for income tax purposes at the start of the 

current financial year for which a deferred tax 

asset has not been recognised. The entity earns 

10,000 in the first quarter of the current year 

and expects to earn 10,000 in each of the three 

remaining quarters. Excluding the 

carryforward, the estimated effective average 

annual income tax rate for the year is expected 

to be 28 40 per cent.  Tax expense is as 

follows: 
 

 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Annual 

 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter  

Tax 

expense 

2,100 

3,000 

2,100 

3,000 

2,100 

3,000 

2,100 

3,000 

8,400 

12,000 

 

Example 2 
 

An entity that reports quarterly has an 

operating loss carryforward of 10,000 for 

income tax purposes at the start of the current 

financial year for which a deferred tax asset 
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has not been recognised.  The entity earns 

15,000 in the first quarter, 9,000 each in the 

third and fourth quarter but expects to incur 

losses of 6,000 in the second quarter.  

Excluding the carryforward, the estimated 

effective tax rate for the year is expected to be 

28 per cent.  Tax expense is as follows: 
 

 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Annual 

 Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter  

Taxable 

profit 

 

10,454 

 

(6,000) 

 

6,273 

 

6,273 

 

17,000 

Tax 

expense 

 

2,928 

 

(1,680) 

 

1,756 

 

1,756 

 

4,760 

Net expense, after the allocation 

of 2nd quarter tax loss 

916 916  

 

Note: The operating loss carryforward of 10,000 

has been recognised in proportion to the profit 

before tax of the interim periods. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, examples B20-B22 in 

Appendix B of FRS 134 will be identical to examples 

B20-B22 in Appendix B of IAS 34. 

 

9.14 Example B35 in Appendix B of IAS 34 on impairment of assets 

which was removed from FRS 1342004 is reinstated. In addition the 

reference to FRS 136 Impairment of Assets in example B30 in 

Appendix B of FRS 1342004 which is not found in example B36 in 

Appendix B of IAS 34 is removed. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to example B30 in Appendix B of FRS 1342004 will 

read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

B35 FRS 136 Impairment of Assets requires that an 

impairment loss be recognised if the 

recoverable amount has declined below 

carrying amount. 

 

B30.B36 This Standard requires that an entity apply the 

same impairment testing, recognition, and 

reversal criteria as set out in FRS 136 
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Impairment of Assets, at an interim date as it 

would at the end of its financial year. That 

does not mean, however, that an entity must 

necessarily make a detailed impairment 

calculation at the end of each interim period. 

Rather, an entity will review for indications of 

significant impairment since the end of the 

most recent financial year to determine 

whether such a calculation is needed. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, examples B35 and B36 in 

Appendix B of FRS 134 will be identical to examples B35 

and B36 in Appendix B of IAS 34. 

 

9.15 The explanation on earnings per share in example B31 in 

Appendix B of FRS 1342004 which is not found in IAS 34 is 

removed. That example reads: 

 

Earnings Per Share 

B31. Basic and fully diluted earnings per share shall 

be derived from the results for the interim 

period and calculated and disclosed in the 

same manner as at the year end.  The 

principles for the determination of basic and 

fully diluted earnings per share and the 

disclosure requirements are dealt in 

accordance with FRS 133 Earnings Per Share. 

 

9.16 The additional explanation provided in respect of revaluations and 

fair value accounting in example C7 in Appendix C of FRS 1342004 

which is not found in IAS 34 is removed. Therefore, the proposed 

amendments to example C7 in Appendix C of FRS 1342004 will 

read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck through): 

 

C7 Revaluations and fair value accounting: 

FRS 116 Property, Plant and Equipment 

allows an entity to choose as its accounting 

policy the revaluation model whereby items of 

property, plant and equipment are revalued to 

fair value.  Similarly, FRS 140 Investment 
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Property requires an entity to determine the 

fair value of investment property. At interim 

reporting dates, revaluations on the basis used 

in the previous annual financial statements 

would suffice, subject to the following: For 

those measurements, an entity may rely on 

professionally qualified valuers at annual 

reporting dates though not at interim reporting 

dates. 

(a) the most recent valuation available 

should be used; 

(b) where valuations have been brought 

forward, without amendment from 

the previous annual financial 

statements, a statement to that effect 

should be given; and 

(c) where significant, the directors are 

encouraged to comment on price 

movements since the last valuation. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, example C7 in Appendix 

C of FRS 134 will be identical to example C7 in Appendix 

C in Appendix C of IAS 34. 

 

 

Question: 

 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1342004 

with the proposed revised FRS 134.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1342004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 134  

 

 Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1342004  

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 134  

 

Objective Objective  25 22 

1 1  26 23 

2 2  27 24 

3 3  28 25 

4 4  29 26 

5 5  30 27 

6 6  31 28 

7 7  32 29 

8 8  33 30 

9 9  34 31 

10 10  35 32 

11 11  36 33 

12 12  37 34 

13 13  38 35 

14 14  39 36 

15 15  40 37 

16 16  41 38 

17 17  42 39 

18 18  43 40 

19 19  44 41 

20 None  45 42 

21 None  46 43 

22 None  47 44 

23 20  48 45 

24 21  49 46 

   None 46A 
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Section 10.0 Proposed Amendments to  

FRS 1372004 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets 
 

The following proposed amendments will remove the differences between 

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets and FRS 

1372004. 

 

10.1 The term ‘interest expense’ in paragraph IN6(b) of IAS 37 which 

was replaced with ‘borrowing costs’ in paragraph IN6(b) of FRS 

1372004 is reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to 

paragraph IN6(b) of FRS 1372004 will read (new text is underlined 

and deleted text is struck through): 

 

IN6. The Standard requires that an entity should, in 

measuring a provision: 

… 

(b) … Where discounting is used, the increase 

in the provision due to the passage of time 

is recognised as borrowing costs an 

interest expense; 

… 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph IN6 of FRS 137 

will be identical to paragraph IN6 of IAS 37. 

 

10.2 The phrase ‘in some countries’ in paragraph 7 of IAS 37 which 

was removed from paragraph 8 of FRS 1372004 is reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 8 of FRS 1372004 

will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

8.7 This Standard defines provisions as liabilities of 

uncertain timing or amount. In some countries 

Tthe term ‘provision’ is also sometimes used in 

the context of items such as depreciation, 

impairment of assets and doubtful debts,: these 

are adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets 

and are not addressed in this Standard. 
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With the proposed amendment, paragraph 7 of FRS 137 

will be identical to paragraph 7 of IAS 37. 

 

10.3 The terms ‘unlawful’ and ‘nuclear power station’ in paragraph 19 

of IAS 37 which were removed from paragraph 20 of FRS 1372004 

are reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 

20 of FRS 1372004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted 

text is struck through): 

 

20.19 It is only those obligations arising from past 

events existing independently of an entity’s 

future actions (ie the future conduct of its 

business) that are recognised as provisions. 

Examples of such obligations are penalties or 

clean-up costs for unlawful environmental 

damage, both of which would lead to an outflow 

of resources embodying economic benefits in 

settlement regardless of the future actions of the 

entity. Similarly, an entity recognises a provision 

for the decommissioning costs of an oil 

installation or a nuclear power station to the 

extent that the entity is obliged to rectify damage 

already caused. … 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 19 of FRS 137 

will be identical to paragraph 19 of IAS 37. 

 

10.4 The explanation regarding the measurement of the best estimate 

for a single obligation in paragraph 40 of IAS 37 which was 

removed from paragraph 41 of FRS 1372004 is reinstated. 

Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 41 of FRS 

1372004 will read (new text is underlined): 

 

41.40 Where a single obligation is being measured, the 

individual most likely outcome may be the best 

estimate of the liability. However, even in such a 

case, the entity considers other possible 

outcomes.  Where other possible outcomes are 

either mostly higher or mostly lower than the 
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most likely outcome, the best estimate will be a 

higher or lower amount. For example, if an entity 

has to rectify a serious fault in a major plant that 

it has constructed for a customer, the individual 

most likely outcome may be for the repair to 

succeed at the first attempt at a cost of 1,000, but 

a provision for a larger amount is made if there is 

a significant chance that further attempts will be 

necessary. 

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 40 of FRS 137 

will be identical to paragraph 40 of IAS 37. 

 

10.5 The term ‘countries’ in paragraph 77 of IAS 37 which was 

replaced with ‘circumstances’ in paragraph 78 of FRS 1372004 is 

reinstated. Therefore, the proposed amendment to paragraph 78 of 

FRS 1372004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is 

struck through): 

 

78.77 In some circumstances countries, the ultimate 

authority is vested in a board of whose 

membership includes representatives of interests 

other than those of management (eg employees) 

or notification to such representatives may be 

necessary before the board decision is taken. 

Because a decision by such a board involves 

communication to these representatives, it may 

result in a constructive obligation to restructure.  

 

 
With the proposed amendment, paragraph 77 of FRS 137 

will be identical to paragraph 77 of IAS 37. 

 

10.6 A new paragraph 96A is added in FRS 137 to withdraw FRS 

1372004 when the former is finalised as a standard. Therefore, the 

proposed amendment will read (new text is underlined): 
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Withdrawal of FRS 1372004 added 

   

96A This Standard supersedes FRS 1372004 

Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 

Contingent Assets. 

 

 

10.7 The term ‘nuclear activities’ and certain numbers in Example 2 in 

Appendix D of IAS 37 which were replaced with ‘oil exploration’ 

and other numbers in FRS 1372004 are reinstated. Therefore, the 

proposed amendments to Example 2 in Appendix D of FRS 

1372004 will read (new text is underlined and deleted text is struck 

through): 

 

Example 2  Decommissioning Ccosts 

In 2000, an entity involved in oil exploration nuclear 

activities recognises a provision for decommissioning 

costs of 300 million.  The provision is estimated using 

the assumption that decommissioning will take place 

in 30-35 60–70 years’ time.  However, there is a 

possibility that it will not take place until 50-55 100–

110 years’ time, in which case the present value of the 

costs will be significantly reduced.  The following 

information is disclosed: 

 

A provision of 300 million has been recognised for 

decommissioning costs. These costs are expected to be 

incurred between 2030 2060 and 2035 2070; however, 

there is a possibility that decommissioning will not 

take place until 2050-2055 2100–2110.  If the costs 

were measured based upon the expectation that they 

would not be incurred until 2050-2055 2100–2110 the 

provision would be reduced to 136 million.  The 

provision has been estimated using existing 

technology, at current prices, and discounted using a 

real discount rate of 2 per cent. 

 

 
With the proposed amendments, Example 2 in Appendix 

D of FRS 137 will be identical to Example 2 in Appendix 

D of IAS 37. 
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Question: 
 

Do you agree with the above proposed amendments? 

 

 
Agree 

 

   

 
Disagree 

 

   

 
Other comments, if any 
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Table of Concordance 
 

The following tables show the corresponding paragraphs in FRS 1372004 

with the proposed revised FRS 137.  

 

Paragraph  

in  

FRS 1372004  

Paragraph  
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Amendments to other Financial Reporting Standards 
 

The amendments in this appendix shall be applied for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 July 2007. If an entity applies this Standard for an 

earlier period, these amendments shall be applied for that earlier period. 

 

A1. FRS 1292004 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies is 

renamed FRS 129 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 

Economies. 

 

A2. In Financial Reporting Standards applicable at 1 July 2007, 

references to FRSs with a subscript ‘2004’ are amended whereby the 

subscript is being removed. 

 

A3.  In Financial Reporting Standards applicable at 1 July 2007, 

references to the MASB’s A Proposed Framework for the 

Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements are amended 

to read MASB ED 53 Framework for the Preparation and 

Presentation of Financial Statements. 

 

A4. In FRS 138 Intangible Assets, paragraph 44 is amended to read as 

follows (new text is underlined): 

 

44. In some cases, an intangible asset may be acquired free of 

charge, or for nominal consideration, by way of a government 

grant. This may happen when a government transfers or 

allocates to an entity intangible assets such as airport landing 

rights, licences to operate radio or television stations, import 

licences or quotas or rights to access other restricted 

resources. In accordance with FRS 120 Accounting for 

Government Grants and Disclosure of Government 

Assistance, an entity may choose to recognise both the 

intangible asset and the grant initially at fair value. If an entity 

chooses not to recognise the asset initially at fair value, the 

entity recognises the asset initially at a nominal amount (the 

other treatment permitted by FRS 120) plus any expenditure 

that is directly attributable to preparing the asset for its 

intended use. 

deleted added added added added added 


